
Agenda for a meeting of the Health and Social Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be held on 
Thursday, 7 June 2018 at 4.30 pm in Committee Room 1 
- City Hall, Bradford

Members of the Committee – Councillors

CONSERVATIVE LABOUR LIBERAL 
DEMOCRAT

BRADFORD 
INDEPENDENT 
GROUP

Hargreaves
Riaz

Greenwood
A Ahmed
Johnson
Mir
Shabbir

N Pollard K Hussain

Alternates:
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR LIBERAL 

DEMOCRAT
BRADFORD 
INDEPENDENT 
GROUP

Barker
Senior

Akhtar
Berry
Godwin
Iqbal
H Khan

Sunderland

Notes:
 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by 

contacting the Agenda contact shown below.
 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed 

except if Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered 
by Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be 
respectful to the conduct of the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such 
as oral commentary) will not be permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes 
to record or film the meeting's proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda Contact 
who will provide guidance and ensure that any necessary arrangements are in place. 
Those present who are invited to make spoken contributions to the meeting should be 
aware that they may be filmed or sound recorded.

 If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the 
officer named at the foot of that agenda item.

From: To:
Michael Bowness
Interim City Solicitor
Agenda Contact: Palbinder Sandhu/Claire Tomenson
Phone: 01274 432269/432457

Public Document Pack



A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS

1.  ALTERNATE MEMBERS  (Standing Order 34)

The City Solicitor will report the names of alternate Members who are 
attending the meeting in place of appointed Members.  

2.  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution)

To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest.

An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting.

Notes:

(1) Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in 
discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would 
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set 
out in the Code of Conduct.  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner.

(2) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 
must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

(3) Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not 
disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should 
be made in the interest of clarity.

(4) Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 
Standing Order 44.

3.  MINUTES

Recommended –

That the minutes of the meetings held on 22 March and 12 April 
2018 be signed as a correct record (previously circulated).

(Palbinder Sandhu – 01274 432269)



4.  INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS

(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)

Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.  

Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.  

If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.  

Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.  

(Palbinder Sandhu - 01274 432269)

5.  REFERRALS TO THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Any referrals that have been made to this Committee up to and including 
the date of publication of this agenda will be reported at the meeting.

B. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACTIVITIES

6.  CO-OPTION OF MEMBERS TO THE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Under Article 6 of Part 2 of the Constitution the Committee may make a 
recommendation to Council for the co-option of non-voting members to 
the Committee.

The Committee is asked to recommend the appointment of the 
following non-voting co-opted members:

Susan Crowe – Strategic Disability Partnership
Trevor Ramsay – Strategic Disability Partnership
G Sam Samociuk – former Mental Health Nursing Lecturer

(Caroline Coombes -01274 432313)

7.  PUBLIC HEALTH 0-19 CHILDREN'S SERVICE

The report of the Director of Public Health (Document “A”) provides 
an update on the intention of the Department of Health and Wellbeing 
to procure Public Health 0-19 Children’s Service (currently Health 
Visiting, School Nursing and Oral Health services) with the 
development of a new service specification and to procure the service 

1 - 70



through a competitive tender process. The procured Public Health 0-19 
Children’s Service will be integrated and co-located as part of the wider 
Prevention and Early Help model, across the four locality footprint.

The report provides compliance with Council Contract Standing Orders 
(CSOs) 2017/18  through which the Authorised Officer must, before 
inviting tenders or quotations for contracts with a total estimated 
contract value in excess of £2m, report details to the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.

Recommended – 

(1) That it be acknowledged that the Public Health 0-19 
Children’s Service, namely Health Visiting, School Nursing 
and Oral Health, will proceed with the development of a new 
service specification.

(2) That procurement will commence with an indicative timeline 
of tender issue in July/August  2018 through a competitive 
tender process and a new service in place by mid year 2019 
be noted.

(Ruksana Sardar-Akram – 01274 432767)

8.  WEST YORKSHIRE JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

Previous reference: Minute 36 (2015/16)

At its meeting of 29 October 2015 the Committee considered a report 
of the Chair and resolved ‘That the West Yorkshire Joint Health 
Overview and Scrutiny be supported’.  It also nominated two members 
from within its membership to sit on the Joint Committee.  As the 
Committee has since been reconstituted, there is now a need to 
appoint two new members to sit on the Joint Committee. 

Recommended – 

That the Committee nominates two members from within its 
membership to sit on the West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 

(Caroline Coombes – 01274 432313)

9.  DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS

Members are asked to note the following dates for the 2018/19 
Municipal Year for meetings of this Committee scheduled to take place 
at 4.30 pm in Committee Room 1, City Hall, Bradford:



Thursday 12 July
Thursday 6 September
Thursday 4 October 
Thursday 25 October 
Thursday 22 November
Thursday 6 December
Thursday 24 January 2019 
Wednesday 20 February 
Thursday 21 March

(Palbinder Sandhu – 01274 432269)

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Report of the Director of Public Health to the meeting of 
Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to be held on 7 June 2018 

A 
 
 

Subject:   Public Health 0-19 Children’s Service 
 

 
Summary statement: 
 
This report provides update on the intention of the Department of Health and Wellbeing to 
procure Public Health 0-19 Children’s Service (currently Health Visiting, School Nursing 
and Oral Health services) with the development of a new service specification and to 
procure the service through a competitive tender process. The procured Public Health 0-
19 Children’s Service will be integrated and co-located as part of the wider Prevention and 
Early Help model, across the four locality footprint. 
 
The report provides compliance with Council Contract Standing Orders (CSOs) 2017/18  
through which the Authorised Officer must, before inviting tenders or quotations for 
contracts with a total estimated contract value in excess of £2m, report details to the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
 
 

Public Health Director  
Sarah Muckle 
Sarah.muckle@bradford.gov.uk  
 

Portfolio: Health and Wellbeing 
 

Report Contact: 
Ruksana Sardar-Akram 
Senior Public Health Manager  
01274 432767  
ruksana.sardar-akram@bradford.gov.uk  

Overview & Scrutiny Area: 
Health and Social Care 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 7/



 

1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides an update on the intent of the Department of Health and 

Wellbeing to procure the Public Health 0-19 Children’s Service (currently Health 
Visiting, School Nursing and Oral Health services) with the development of a new 
service specification and to do so through a competitive tender process. 
 

1.2 Support for the development of a new service model was previously given at Health 
and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on Thursday, 8 September 
2016 (see item 10 for further information) following the presentation of the 
comprehensive reviews undertaken for Health Visiting and School Nursing and the 
detailed findings and recommendations.  
 

1.3 The changes required as part of the new model will form part of the transformation 
of children’s services and new ways of working in relation to a “Prevention and Early 
Help Service” across the district including integration of key Public Health services 
for children and young people, which will be procured separately but integrated 
within the wider model and co-located according to the four locality footprint. 
 

1.4 The procurement as noted above will have a contract value in excess of £2m 
therefore, in accordance with the Councils Contract Standing Orders 2017/18, this 
report is providing details to the Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee before tenders or quotations are invited. 

   
2. BACKGROUND 
 

2.1 The contract for Health Visiting transferred to the Local Authority from NHS England 
on 1 October 2015, School Nursing and Oral Health contracts had previously 
transferred in 2013 as part of the changes required through the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012. 
 

2.2 The transfer of commissioning responsibilities for both Health Visiting and School 
Nursing provided opportunity to review the services and identify if and how the 
current service model met current and emerging need; detailed findings identified 
that future services will be based on the principles of the Healthy Child Programme 
(HCP), delivery of high impact areas and other key approaches as described in the 
Public  Health England’s ‘Best start in life and beyond’ (2016) and the subsequent 
updated Public Health England (PHE) Commissioning Guides for Healthy Child 
programme 0-19 published in March 2018. 
 

2.3 In early 2017, a Prevention and Early Help group, led by Children’s services 
Department was established to consider integration and commissioning of children’s 
services including services in the Local Authority for children and young people age 
0-19 and up to 25 for children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). 
 

2.4 The proposed redesign of services, both internal and commissioned, gives 
opportunity for real innovation and flexibility to meet the needs of young people and 
families and further provides a driver for reducing overlap between services whilst 
enhancing the partnerships already in existence.  This approach will ensure the use 
of evidence of what works and give a focus on the approaches most likely to improve 
outcomes. 

 

Page 2



 

 
2.5 The proposed preferred model will ensure a continued focus on pregnancy and the 

early years and the learning and evaluation of projects from Better Start Bradford 
alongside national and local research published from Born in Bradford.  The 
approach is based on the evidence based ‘4-5-6” model described in the PHE 
Commissioning Guides ; 4 levels of need, 5 health checks/health reviews and 6 high 
impact areas for both 0-5 year olds and 5-19 year olds. 
 

2.6 Within the overall reduced budget, the procured Public Health 0-19 Children’s 
Service will retain a clear focus on supporting families to ensure every child has the 
best possible start in life.  This includes: 

 
2.6.1 Provision of the five mandated health checks and assessments for pregnant 

women, babies and young children, as follows  
 Antenatal review (women more than 28 weeks pregnant)  
 Birth Review ( at 1 day to 2 weeks)  
 Postnatal Review (at 6 to 8 weeks) 
 15 months review 
 24 to 30 months review 

 
2.6.2 In addition to the five mandated health checks there will be an additional 3-4 month 

contact for maternal mood assessment.  
 

2.6.3 Delivery of the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP), hearing screening 
and sign posting to and other services where necessary; 

 
2.6.4 Health needs assessments and reviews of pupils in Reception and Year 6/7 and 

year 9/10;  
 

2.6.5 Delivery of the high impact areas for 0-19 year olds and more targeted support to 
women, babies, children and young people  who need it most.   
 

2.6.6 The high impact areas from conception, birth, early years and school age children 
including: 
 Transition to parenthood and the early weeks; 
 Maternal mental health; 
 Breastfeeding (initiation and duration);  
 Healthy weight, healthy nutrition (to include physical activity);  
 Managing minor illnesses and reducing hospital attendance/admissions;  
 Health, wellbeing and development of the child aged two (two year old review 

integrated review) and support to be ‘ready for school’; 
 Resilience and emotional wellbeing – links to Future in Minds; 
 Keeping safe: Managing risk and reducing harm; 
 Improving lifestyles; 
 Maximising learning and achievement;  
 Supporting complex and additional health and wellbeing needs;  
 Seamless transition and preparation for adulthood. 
 

2.7. Local Authorities also have a statutory responsibility to provide or commission oral 
health improvement programmed and this element will also be integrated and 

Page 3



 

commissioned and will focus on prevention and early intervention programmes as 
well as delivery of screening and surveys.   

 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

3.1 The procurement of Public Health 0-19 children’s service is necessary for compliance 
with procurement regulations. 
 

3.2 The Council has held extensive public consultation on a proposed preferred 
Prevention and Early Help model including changes to the Public Health 0-19 
children’s service. 
 

3.3 A 0-19 Public Health Commissioning Board has been established with key partners 
to oversee the development of a new service specification for Public Health 0-19 
Children’s Service which is integrated and aligned to the changes highlighted in the 
Children’s Department 0-19 Prevention and Early Help Executive Report presented 
and approved on 3th April 2018. 
 

3.4 Indicative timelines for the transformation of Public Health 0-19 children’s service 
are currently being drafted by Corporate Services Procurement and Commercial 
team, an indicative tender publish date being July/August, 2018 and contract start 
date expected to be mid year 2019. 

 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL 
 
4.1 The budget investment  for 0-19 Public Health children’s service will change between 

2016 (£14.4m) – 2020 (£9.2m), this takes account of reductions to the Public Health 
Grant, changes already made to services as required and the agreed overall 
reinvestment profile. 
 

4.2 Contract length will be 4 years with an optional extension of 2 x 1 year periods; this 
has been determined following consultation with commercial colleagues and 
feedback from the market; the contract will therefore be in excess of £2m and circa 
£36m.  

 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
5.1 The procurement of the 0-19 Public Health children’s services is a significant change 

at a time when transformation and efficiencies have to be made. 
 

5.2 A 0-19 Public Health Board, including partners from across the Authority and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) is in place to oversee the development of service 
specifications with a view to having the new service in place by mid year 2019. 
 

5.3 A risk log will be developed and actioned as part of the procurement process. 
 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL 

 
6.1 The commissioning of Public Health children’s service will be conducted in 

accordance with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders, and National and European 
procurement regulations.  Public Health is working with the Council’s Commercial 
Team to agree an appropriate sourcing option. 
 

Page 4



 

6.2 Local Authorities have duties outlined in the Health and Social Care Act (2012), 
which came into force in April 2013 when Public Health transferred to the Council, 
and this includes delivering public health children’s services for 0-19 year olds and 
specific mandated and statutory functions including the five health checks for young 
children, the National Child Measurement Programme and district wide Oral Health 
surveys.  
 

6.3 Local Authorities statutory Public Health responsibilities also include a duty to 
improve Public Health, Section 31 of the 2012 Act requires local authorities to have 
regard to guidance from the Secretary of State when exercising their public health 
functions; in particular this power requires local authorities to have regard to the 
Department of Health’s Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF). 
 

6.4 Section 237 of the 2012 Act also requires local authorities to comply with National 
Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommendations to fund treatments 
under their public health functions. 

 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY 
 

7.1.1 The Local Authority must not discriminate directly or indirectly against any 
group or individual and is required to foster good relations. This has been 
considered as part of the overall transformation to childrens services to a 
Prevention and Early Help model. 

 
7.1.2 A further Equality impact assessment will be completed on the new service 

specification for 0-19 public Health children’s service. 
 
7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.2.1 There are no direct sustainability implications arising from this report at 

present. 
.   
7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 

 
7.3.1 The proposal will not impact on gas emissions. 

 
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.4.1 Through working differently across services, including Police and 

Neighbourhood Services, the proposal would aim to reduce crime and anti-
social behaviour and its impact on individual families and communities.  

 
7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 

 
7.5.1 There are no direct Human Rights implications arising from this report at 

present. 
 
7.6 TRADE UNION 

 
7.6.1 There are no direct Trade Union implications arising from this report.  
 

Page 5



 

7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.7.1 The Public health service will be based on the Prevention and Early Help 
model as already identified. 

  
7.8    NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 

 
None 

 
8. OPTIONS 

 
8.1 A number of options were considered as part of the Prevention and Early Help model 

and the option agreed is integrated children’s prevention and early help model with 
Public Health 0-19 childrens service commissioned separate but fully integrated and 
co-located in the four locality footprint. 

 
9. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
9.1 That the Public Health 0-19 Children’s Service, namely Health Visiting, School 

Nursing and Oral Health will proceed with the development of a new service 
specification be acknowledged. 
 

9.2 That procurement will commence with an indicative timeline of tender issue in 
July/August  2018 through a competitive tender process and a new service in place 
by mid year 2019 be noted 

 
10. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1:  Business Case for the Health Visiting and Family Nurse 
Partnership Review  

 

 

APPENDIX 1 FINAL 
BUSINESS CASE REPORT.doc

 
Appendix 2: Full Appendices Document 
 

  

APPENDIX 2 FINAL 
APPENDICES REPORT.doc

 
 
 
11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

 Health Visiting and School Nursing Reviews: 2016 HSOSC Sept 2016 : 
https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g6432/Public%20reports%20pack
%2008th-Sep-  
2016%2016.30%20Health%20and%20Social%20Care%20Overview%20and%2
0Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=10 

 Families Needs Assessment: An overview of the needs of families in Bradford 
and Airedale 2017 

 Public Health England ‘Best Start in life and beyond’ Guidance (2016) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-0-to-19-

Page 6



 

health-visitor-and-school-nurse-commissioning 
 The effect of multiple adverse child hood events (ACEs) experiences on 

health Lancet Public  
  http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(17)30118-
4/fulltext  

 Bradford District Plan 2016 - 2020 
 Bradford Council Plan 2016 – 2020 
 Bradford Children, Young People and Families Plan 2017-2020 
 Bradford District Oral Health Strategy 
 Bradford District Every Baby Matters Strategy and Action Plan 
 Fair Society Health Lives Marmot Review 2010 

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-
lives-the-marmot-review 

 1001 Critical Days Report (2013)  http://www.1001criticaldays.co.uk/ 
 Best Start in Life and Beyond, PHE, Jan 2016 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/49
3617/Service_specification_0_to_19_CG1_19Jan2016.pdf 

 Council Contract Standing Orders, Dec 2015 
http://intranet.bradford.gov.uk/working-day/accountancy-and-financial-
advice/financial-regulations-and-contract-standing-orders 

 Future in Mind: promoting, protecting and improving our children and young 
people’s mental health and wellbeing, DH, March 2015 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/41
4024/Childrens_Mental_Healthpdf 

 Integrated Early Years Strategy, BMDC, 2015-18 
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/NR/rdonlyres/4F168FB7-3239-496A-9029-
F96B32556BD6/0/W32253IntegratedEarlyYearsStrategy.pdf 

 Public Contracts Directive, 2014 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/47
2985/A_Brief_Guide_to_the_EU_Public_Contract_Directive_2014_-
_Oct_2015__1_.pdf 

 Public Procurement, The Public Contracts Regulations, 2015 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made 

 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

http://www.cnet.org.uk/_library/downloads/W27843_Health_and_Wellbeing_Strategy_

Plain_English_Ver.pdf 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Business Case for the Review of  
Health Visiting and Family Nurse Partnership 

Service for Children age 0-5 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13 May 2016 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

CONTENTS: 
 

1. Introduction  
1.1 Purpose…..…………………………………………………………………………….……….… 1 

 

2. Background Information 
2.1 Aim of the review………………………………………………………………….......….… 1 
2.2 Commissioning Health Visiting services...……………………………….….………… 1 
2.3 National Policy Context…………………………………………………………..……....… 2 
2.4 Local Policy Context..……………..……………………………………………………….… 3  
2.5 Demographics…..……………..…………………………………………….……………….… 4 
2.6 Health and wellbeing needs of population…………..……………………………..… 4 

 

3. Current Health Visiting Service  
3.1 Current level of service…………………………………………………….……………...… 5 
3.2 Finance and staffing ……………………………………………………….……………...… 6 
3.3 Public Health Outcomes ………………………………………………………………….… 6 
3.4 Universal elements of the healthy child pathway…………………………..……… 6 
3.5 Current service and the 4-5-6 Model…………………………………………..………. 7 
3.6 Safeguarding…………………………………………………………………………..……..… 7 
3.7 Delivery of the Five Universal Mandatory checks………………………..…….……7 
3.8 Delivery of six high Impact areas………………………………………..………………. 8 
3.9 Current Service Performance………………………………………..……….…………… 8 

 

4. Health Visiting Review  
4.1 Purpose………………………………………………………………….……..……….……….. 9 
4.2 Objectives………………………………………………………………………………..….…… 9 
4.3 Leadership & Governance…………..…………………………………………..……….… 9 
4.4 Scope of review………………………………………………………………..…………….... 9 
4.5 Risks. ………………………………………………………………………………………..……. 9 
4.6 Methodology……………………………………………………………………..…….……….. 10 
4.7 Findings……………………………………………………………………..…………..……..… 10 

4.7.1 Literature review……………….……………………..………….……..….……… 10 
4.7.2 Demographics………………………………………………………..….……..…… 10 
4.7.3 Health and wellbeing needs…………………………....……..…………..…... 11 
4.7.4 Consultation - Key findings for Health Visiting services……..………… 11 
4.7.5 Consultation - Key findings for Family Nurse Partnership………..……13 

 

5. Recommendations 
 5.1 Proposed new Health Visiting service model……………………………..……….… 13 
     5.2 Proposed new Family Nurse Partnership model………………..….…………..…… 14 

5.3 Service Specification………...…………………………………………….……..…….…… 15 
5.4 Key Milestones .……………………..……………………………………………..…….…… 15 
5.5 Performance Management …………………………………..……………………..…..... 15 
5.6 Understanding service demand..………………………………….……..….………..… 16 
 

6. Council Policies and Priorities 
6.1  Equality & diversity……………………………………………………………..………….… 16 
6.2  Council policies and priorities…………………………………..………..…………….… 16 
6.3  New deal…………………………………………………………………..…………………..… 17 
6.4  Resources and value for money……………………………………..…….………….… 17 
6.5  Legal implications……………………………………………………………..…………….…17 
6.6  Risk management ……………………………………………………………..……….….… 17 
 

7. Conclusions……………………………………………………………………..…..…………...…17 

8. Recommendation………………………………………………………………..……….……… 18 

9. Background Documents/Appendices………………………..………………….….… 18 
Page 10



1 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
This is the Business Plan for the review of Health Visiting and Family Nurse Partnership 
(FNP) service for children age 0-5 and sets out the proposals for a new model which 
supports and contributes to the Councils vision 'For every one of our children to have the 
best possible start in life' through the commissioning and delivery of an evidence based 
service which considers the needs of our local communities. The Plan initially sets out 
the background for the Health Visiting and FNP Service and its purpose, examining 
literature, strategic policy context, needs of young people and informs the service model. 
It then proceeds to outline the key findings from the service review, detailing the 
proposed model which will be discussed with the various local Commissioning and 
Children’s Boards and require approval from the Council Executive. 

 
1.1    Purpose 
 
  The purpose of the report is to: 

 
1.1.1 To brief Members and Strategic Partners on the Councils review of the Health 

Visiting and Family Nurse Partnership (FNP) service.   

1.1.2 To highlight key findings from the review, detail the draft service model in order to 
gain approval from the Council Executive to proceed with re-commissioning or 
re-design of the Health Visiting and FNP Service.   

1.1.3 To identify any proposals affecting the local Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) and Children’s Services which will be taken for discussion through the 
Bradford Health and Care Commissioners Group (BHCC) and the Children’s and 
Maternity Transformation and Integration Group (TIG). 

 
2. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
2.1   Aim of the review 
 
The transfer of commissioning responsibilities to the Council has provided an opportunity 
to review the Health Visiting Service and Family Nurse Partnership service including: 

 
1.1.1 Review current guidance, policy and good practice to inform/identify a set of 

standards of which to review the current service and service model 

1.1.2 Analyse the current and emerging health and wellbeing needs of parents and the 
0-5 (years) population within the Bradford District 

1.1.3 Engage with key stakeholders; Parents, GPs, Early Years etc. 

1.1.4 Develop a model that meets current and emerging need, demonstrating quality 
and value for money. 

1.1.5 Integrating with current early years services for young children. 

1.1.6 To review current national and local policy, guidance and strategy relating to 
children age 0-5 and the transfer of Public Health into the Council, I order to 
improve the health and wellbeing outcomes for children and young people and 
their families. 

 
2.2   Commissioning Health visiting and Family Nurse Partnership services 
 
2.2.1 From 1 October 2015 public health commissioning responsibilities for children 

aged 0 to 5 transferred from NHS England to local authorities. This will mark the 
final part of the much larger transfer of public health functions to local 
government which took place on 1 April 2013 under the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012. 

Page 11



2 

2.2.2 NHS England Area Team put in place a single contract for the full-year of 
2015/16, with a deed of novation.  

2.2.3 Health visiting and family nurses partnership are now commissioned by the 
Bradford Metropolitan District Council and is one of the largest funded contracts 
managed within Public Health, currently delivered by Bradford District Care NHS 
Foundation Trust (BDCFT). 

2.2.4 The current contract is based on national KPIs with some local variations agreed 
prior to transition, and is based on “resident populations”. A joint statement on 
resident populations has been agreed for West Yorkshire to ensure providers 
had protocols in place to ensure no child or family is left without a Health Visitor, 
both during the transition of 0-5 PH Commissioning and following the transfer of 
commissioning into local authorities.  

2.2.5 The transfer of commissioning responsibilities to Public Health has provided 
opportunity to review the Health Visiting Service and Family Nurse Partnership 
(FNP) service with the overall aim to improve health and wellbeing outcomes for 
babies, children and their families. 

 
2.3 Strategic National context 
 

Detailed information on key national policy drivers can be found in Appendix 2. 
Health visitors lead delivery of a prevention and early intervention public health 
programme that lies at the heart of the universal service for children and families 
and aims to support parents at this crucial stage of life, promote child 
development, improve child health outcomes and ensure that families at risk are 
identified at the earliest opportunity. It is underpinned by an up-to-date evidence 
base and national standards as highlighted in section 3, 5 and 5 in Appendix 2. 

 
2.3.1 The Department of Health, alongside its partners, has produced 6 documents to 

support local authorities and other stakeholders through the transition. The 
documents identify 6 areas where health visitors have the most impact on 
children aged 0 to 5’s health and wellbeing. Local authorities should use this 
information to ensure that health visiting services are commissioned effectively.  

2.3.2 Best start in life and beyond: Improving public health outcomes for children, 
young people and families – Published in January 2016, this Guidance forms a 
suite of support guides to assist local authorities in the commissioning of health 
visiting and school nursing services to lead and co-ordinate delivery of public 
health for children aged 0-19.  This includes the 4-5-6 service model described in 
‘Best start in life and beyond’: 

 Four progressive tiers of health visiting practice – building community 
capacity; the universal elements of the Healthy Child Programme; targeted 
interventions to meet identified need, and partnership working to meet 
complex needs 

 Five universal Healthy Child pathway (HCP) checks and reviews in line with 
the proposed mandate of local authority commissioning of the five universal 
checks and reviews. A significant addition to the performance report is the 
percentage of children who receive a six to eight week review. 

 Six high impact areas – maternal mental health, transition to parenthood, 
breastfeeding, healthy weight, child development and managing minor illness/ 
accident prevention 

 

2.3.3 Professor Sir Michael Marmot's review of health inequalities gives priority to 
action in the early years. Giving every child the best start in life is crucial to 
reducing health inequalities across the life course. The foundations for virtually 
every aspect of human development – physical, intellectual and emotional – are 
laid in early childhood. 

Page 12



3 

2.3.4 NHS England has published a national core health visiting service specification 
for 2015-16. The refreshed specification has a strengthened focus on the role of 
health visitors as leaders for improving health and wellbeing outcomes for young 
children and their families 

2.3.5 Children’s public health services contribute to the Public Health Outcomes 
Framework for England 2013 – 2016 (PHOF) which aims “to improve and protect 
the nation’s health and wellbeing and to improve the health of the poorest 
fastest.” (Healthy Lives, 2012) 

2.3.6 The Health Visitor Implementation Plan 2011-15 published in February 2011 set 
out the full range of services that families would expect from health visitors and 
their teams as part of the rejuvenated and transformed health service. The Plan 
sets out a call to action to expand and strengthen health visiting services (2011-
15) 

2.3.7 One of the Department of Health (DH) key policy drivers is to give all children a 
healthy start in life. The healthy child programme: pregnancy and the first 5 years 
of life sets out plans for a universal preventative service, providing families with a 
programme of screening, immunisation, health and development reviews, 
supplemented by advice around health, wellbeing and parenting.  

2.3.8 Health Visiting services lead and deliver the Healthy Child Programme (HCP),
 

which is designed to offer a core, evidence based programme of support, starting 
in pregnancy, through the early weeks of life and throughout childhood. 

2.3.9 Frank Field’s review (2010) of child poverty emphasises the importance of 
improving parenting and children’s early development as a means of ending the 
inter-generational transmission of child poverty. He points to the impact that high-
quality early education for two year olds can have on later life chances, noting 
that known vocabulary at age five is the best predictor of whether children are 
able to escape poverty in later life. 

2.3.10 Developments will also take account of Dame Claire Tickell’s Review of the Early 
Years Foundation Stage and Professor Eileen Munro’s Review of Child 
Protection. 

2.3.11 Graham Allen’s first report sets out his vision for system reform and recommends 
“early intervention” places, a greater reliance on evidence-based programmes, 
and an early intervention foundation. Supporting Families in the Foundation 
Years is a joint publication between DfE and DH, recognising that, as Graham 
Allen says, coherent integrated services are essential.  

2.3.12 Local authorities have statutory duties under the Childcare Act 2006 to secure 
sufficient provision of children’s centres to meet local need, as far as is 
reasonably practicable. Every child’s centre should have access to a named 
health visitor. 

 

2.4  Local Policy Context 
 

Detailed information on key local policy drivers can be found in Appendix 3. In 
addition to key themes raised in the national policy context, a review of local 
policy and planning emphasises the importance of working collaboratively with 
key partners to improve services and get better value for money. Focussing on 
delivery of interventions to improve health and wellbeing and reduce health 
inequalities in children and young people include:  

 
2.4.1 New Deal for Council - Good Start in Life and Good schools for all children  

2.4.2 Health and Well Being Strategy & Health Inequalities Action Plan 2015-2018 - 
Infant mortality, Oral health, Obesity, Parenting & early years, children SEN and 
disabilities and Child poverty  

Page 13



4 

2.4.3 Children & Young People’s Strategic Plan 2014-16  

2.4.4 Key Strategic Outcomes for Integrated Early Years Strategy (0-7 years) Bradford 
district 2015-2018 - Infant mortality, Oral health, Obesity and School readiness 
(Good level of development), Year 1 Phonics and KS1 phonics Year 2 reading, 
writing and maths  

2.4.5 Better Start Bradford –improved outcomes for pregnant women and young 
children aged 0-3 years - School readiness, obesity and other key outcomes.  HV 
services and FNP are an important part of the Better Start Bradford, £49 million 
Big Lottery Programme targeting pregnant women and children age 0-3 via 22 
evidence based projects to improve outcomes 

2.4.6 Integrated Care Pathway (ICP) in 2014 incorporating health visitors, midwifery 
and children services for children age 0-5 is key  

2.4.7 Children Centres : Health visiting services are an important in relation to the 
Children centre (CC) services and CC Review –both services have similar focus 
and targets and effective  integrated working is key for the future  

2.4.8 Five Year Forward Plan for Bradford Airedale and Craven & 3 CCG Plans - 
Improved Maternal and Child Health  

 
2.5  Demographics of Children 0-5 years 
 

Bradford District is one of the most deprived local authority in the whole of 
England, ranking 19th in the 2015 indices of multiple deprivation (IMD) and 2nd 
most deprived in the Yorkshire and Humber region (after the City of Kingston 
upon Hull). This compares to the ranking of 26th for IMD 2010. Bradford’s 
position relative to other English districts has worsened by 7 places.   
 
The number and proportion of the district’s total population aged under 19 years 
is increasing. This presents the District with a growing challenge as over the last 
decade there has been an increase of over 20% in 0-4 year olds. Detailed 
information can be found in Appendix 4 

 
Age Groups 2014

0-4yrs 41,018

5-9yrs 40,036

10-14yrs 36,145

15-19yrs 35,393  
Source: Mid-2014 Population Estimates, ONS 

 
- There are 49,270 children aged 0-5 in Bradford District this equates to 9% of 

the total population (Mid 2014 population estimates, ONS.)  
- The sub national population projections suggest that the 0-5 population is due 

to increase by 10% by 2021.  
- A third (33.1%) of all births in Bradford are to mothers born outside the UK, 

higher than the average for England (27.3%).  
 

2.6   Health and wellbeing needs of young children  
 

Bradford has significant inequalities compared to both regionally and nationally, 
with local variations where some areas within the District are worst than others. 
These are highlighted below and further information is available in Appendix 5.  
 

2.6.1 Infant mortality: The latest figures show the infant mortality rate in Bradford was 5.9 
per 1,000 live births in 2011-13 but still higher than regionally or nationally. 
- In 2013 there were 8,039 live births in Bradford district compared with 8,322 

live births in 2012 (a decrease of 3.4%)  

Page 14



5 

- The birth rate fell from 15.9 live births per 1,000 population in 2012 to 15.3 
live births per 1,000 population in 2013 despite the birth rate having 
decreased over the last few years the rate still remains higher than the 
average for both England and Yorkshire and the Humber.  

- The sub national population projections suggest that the 0-5 population is due 
to increase by 10% by 2021.  

 
2.6.2 Obesity: Obesity rates are higher than regionally or nationally.  Health Visitors have 

an important role in relation to a healthy start from birth to five where diet and 
weaning advice is crucial.  

 

2.6.3 Oral Health: Tooth decay in 5 year olds is measured as the average number of 
decayed, missing or filled teeth (dmft).The latest dmft rate in Bradford is 1.98 in 
2011/12; higher than nationally or regionally dmft is significantly higher in wards 
such as Toller, Bradford Moor and Little Horton. Oral health has been included as 
an important part of the health visiting service where a universal service is 
provided to all children with information.  

 

2.6.4 Emergency admissions for unintentional injuries (2012/13): 
Illness such as gastroenteritis and upper respiratory tract infections, along with 
injuries caused by accidents in the home, are the leading causes of attendances 
at Accident & Emergency departments and hospitalisation amongst the under 5s. 
Managing minor illnesses and reducing accidents is identified as one of the six 
high impact areas for children age 0-5, and an important part of the early 
intervention and prevention role health visitors can promote.  

 
Out of 496 emergency admissions for children age 0-4 for unintentional injuries, 
the following include the top five areas: 

 
Unintentional injuries (2012/13) for children age 0-4 % 
1. Open wound of head 25.0% 
2. Open wound of wrist and hand  14.1% 
3. Other and unspecified injuries of head  9.5% 
4. Superficial injury of head  7.9% 
5. Fracture of forearm  7.2% 
Total 63.7% 

 
2.6.5 School readiness: Below average ‘Good levels of development’ aged 5 years in 

Reception year (Early Years Foundation Profile) –also known as ‘school 
readiness’ -compared to nationally 62% Bradford versus 66% for England, and 
worse in more deprived areas. 

  
3. CURRENT HEALTH VISITING & FAMILY NURSE PARTNERSHIP SERVICE 
 
Detailed information on the health visiting service can be found in Appendix 6 and 
detailed background to the Family Nurse Partnership can be found in Appendix 9. The 
health visiting contract including Family Nurse Partnership (FNP) is one of the largest 
contracts managed by Public health and delivered by the Bradford District Care 
Foundation NHS Trust, commissioned as detailed in 2.2 above.   
 
3.1 Current Level of service  
 

Universal services ensure that families can access the Healthy Child Programme 
and that parents are supported at key times and have access to a range of 
community services. Universal plus offers rapid response from the local health 
visiting team when specific expert help is needed for example with postnatal 
depression, a sleepless baby, weaning or answering any concerns about 
parenting. Universal partnership plus provides ongoing support from the health 

Page 15



6 

visiting team and a range of local services to deal with more complex issues over 
a period of time. Current level of service provided by Health visiting teams 
indicate the following level of services for Universal and targeted services. 

 
Level Service Number % 
Tier 1 Universal 39,918 94.1% 
Tier 2 Universal Plus 1,577 3.7% 
Tier 3 Partnership 767 1.8% 
Tier 4 Partnership Plus 180 0.4% 
Total 42,442 100% 

 
3.2       Staffing and Finance  
 

The current service transferred from NHSE with a part year budget and Contract 
value £6,020,319 for 2015/16. The contract value for 2016/17 is £10,692,530. 
 
The Health Visiting Service is split into multidisciplinary teams comprising of 
qualified Nurses, Nursery Nurses and Health Care Support Workers.   
Expansion of FNP took place from 2011 over 3 years and is now funded for 
Supervisors, Family Nurses and Quality Support Officer during 2015. The team 
has a maximum capacity for delivery of FNP to 245 clients. There are a total of:  
- WTE HV staff 215.66  
- FNP staff   12.61  
- Total Staff   228.27  
 

3.3       Health Outcomes 

Children’s public health services contribute to the Public Health Outcomes 
Framework for England 2013 – 2016 (PHOF) which aims “to improve and protect 
the nation’s health and wellbeing and to improve the health of the poorest 
fastest.” Specifically, children’s public health contributes to the following four 
domains:  

1. Improving the wider determinants of health  
 PHOF 1.2: School readiness  
2. Health Improvement  
 PHOF 2.2:  Breastfeeding initiation and prevalence at  6-8 weeks after birth  
 PHOF 2.5:  Child development at 2-2½ years  
 PHOF 2.6:  Excess weight in 4 – 5 year olds  
 PHOF 2.7:  Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate 

injuries in under 5s 
 PHOF 2.21: Access to non-cancer screening programmes  
3. Health Protection  
 Population vaccination coverage (PHOF 3.3)  
4. Healthcare public health and preventing premature mortality  
 PHOF 4.1:  Infant mortality  
 PHOF 4.2:  Tooth decay in children aged 5  

In July 2012, the Children and Young People’s Health Outcomes Forum 
recommended a number of new outcome measures, some of which are relevant 
to the Public Health of 0-5 year olds. For example, an outcome measure of 
mother’s mental health.  

3.4 The universal elements of the Healthy child pathway  

The universal elements of the Healthy Child pathway are delivered by a team led 
by health visitors working in way that is most appropriate to local public health 
needs and across a range of settings and organisations including general 
practice, maternity services and children’s centres (except where families are 
accessing FNP, in which case the FNP nurse – family nurse – will take on this 

Page 16



7 

role until the child is two years old). As an overview, core elements of the HCP 
include:  

- Health and development reviews – To assess family strengths, needs and 
risks; provide parents the opportunity to discuss their concerns and 
aspirations; assess child growth and social and emotional development; and 
detect abnormalities.  

- Screening – support with screening is an integral part of the universal HCP.  

- Immunisations – At every contact, members of the HCP team should identify 
the immunisations status of the child.  

- Promotion of social and emotional development – The HCP includes 
opportunities for parents and practitioners to review a child’s social and 
emotional development, for the practitioner to provide evidence-based advice 
and guidance and decide when specialist input is needed.  

- Support for parenting – One of the core functions of the HCP is to support 
parenting using evidence-based programmes  

- Effective promotion of health and behavioural change – Delivery of 
population, individual and community-level interventions based on NICE 
public health guidance.  

- Sick children – Supporting parents to know what to do when their child is ill.  

- Children with a disability – Early diagnosis and early help. 

 
3.5  The current service reflects the 4-5-6 model which includes: 
 

Further information is available in Appendix 6. 
- Four progressive tiers of health visiting practice – building community 

capacity; the universal elements of the Healthy Child Programme; targeted 
interventions to meet identified need, and partnership working to meet 
complex needs 

- Five universal HCP checks and reviews in line with the proposed mandate of 
local authority commissioning of the five universal checks and reviews. A 
significant addition to the performance report is the percentage of children 
who receive a six to eight week review. 

- Six high impact areas – maternal mental health, transition to parenthood, 
breastfeeding, healthy weight, child development and managing minor illness/ 
accident prevention.  

 
3.6      Targeted Services and Safeguarding 

 

An important part of the health visiting services includes both targeted and 
universal services as highlighted in Appendix 6 (section 3). The current service 
has access to a multidisciplinary team consisting of a safeguarding team which is 
recognised a major strength locally.  

 
3.7 Delivery of the Five universal Healthy Child pathway (HCP) checks and   

reviews  
 

As part of the transfer of services the Department of Health (DH) has mandated 
local authorities (under section 6C of the NHS Act 2006) to ensure the provision 
of the following five key elements of the HCP to be delivered by health visitors: 

 

1. Antenatal health promoting reviews 
2. New baby reviews 
3. Six to eight week assessments 
4. One year assessments and 
5. Two to two and a half year reviews. 

Page 17



8 

Health visitor service delivery metrics were developed by NHS England in order 
to provide assurance on service transformation in England around the five key 
areas and is detailed in Appendix 6 (4b). 

 
3.8       Delivery of Six High Impact Areas 
 

Working in partnership with other services in supporting assessment of education 
and health and care plans for children aged 0-5s is a strong focus, including a 
family centred approach to meeting the needs of children with Special 
Educational Needs and contributing to high intensity multi-agency services where 
there are safeguarding or child protection concerns.  The current specification 
highlights the health visiting contribution as experts and leaders in delivering 
better health and wellbeing for 0-5s. This includes: 

 

1. Transition to Parenthood and the Early Weeks  
2. Maternal Mental Health (Perinatal Depression) 
3. Breastfeeding (Initiation and Duration) 
4. Healthy Weight, Healthy Nutrition (to include Physical Activity) 
5. Managing Minor Illness and Reducing Accidents (Reducing 

Hospital Attendance/Admissions) 
6. Health, Wellbeing and Development of the Child Age 2 – Two year 

old review (integrated review) and support to be ‘ready for school’ 
 
3.9      Current Service Performance 
 

Various metrics have been set to performance manage the current service, with 
new KPIs such as the use of the ASQ to monitor child development outcomes at 
age 2 to 2½ years is a new indicator in the 2015/16 collection. A new indicator for 
child development outcomes will be included in the PHOF from 2015/16. In the 
first instance this indicator will be coverage of the ASQ but later iterations will 
include achievement of child development milestones across a number of 
dimensions.  
 
The current service is based on national KPIs, although local variations include 
Healthy start and oral health, as well as ensuring integrated working and Health 
Visitor leadership to the children centre clusters of which there are now seven.  
 

3.9.1 Mandated Health Checks 
Current performance based on the nationally defined five mandated health 
checks following transition from NHSE into local authority includes the areas 
identified in 3.7. 
 

3.9.2 High impact areas 
These KPIs relate to local variations which were included at the time of transfer 
and refer to new KPIs in addition to the nationally defined ones. Hence the data 
is not complete but shows the level of detail expected as part of the service as 
can be seen in Appendix 9. 
 

4. HEALTH VISITING AND FNP SERVICE REVIEW  
 
The aim of the review is to drive a culture change towards prevention, early intervention 
and integration of services to ensure children, young people and their families can 
access the support when they need it most, either through universal or targeted 
services. This is important given the pressure on budgets and the changing 
demographics and needs of the population where a system change is also necessary 
which means Public Health need to change the way we commission and deliver services 
so they are evidence-based and draws on qualitative and quantitative information from 

Page 18



9 

key stakeholders, whether primary care, education, early years, health visiting staff or 
service users.  
 
The review is timely given that an integrated care pathway has already been developed 
and aligned with children centre clusters and linked to other pathways across early years 
services, including the early help offer and signs of safety. It is also an opportunity to 
ensure the approach links into the school nursing (5-19) review which is also being 
reviewed by Public Health, so there is a clear transition from early years into school.  
 
4.1 Purpose 
 

The purpose is highlighted in 1.1 but the main purpose of the HV and FNP 
Review is to detail the draft service model in order to gain approval from the 
Council Executive and to proceed with the commissioning of a new model of 
Health Visiting and FNP Service. 

4.2 Objectives  
 

The overall objective is to consider the Local Authorities local vision for the health 
and wellbeing of babies, young children and families to ensure that the transfer 
adds value to local efforts to address health inequalities among this age group, 
which include: 
 To identify if and how the current service model meets current and emerging 

need taking into consideration the changing demographic profile of children 
and young people within the Bradford District 

 To review how the service model fits with children and young people’s 
services with particular emphasis on the new offer for children and young 
people. 

 To identify key opportunities to make improvements in prevention and early 
intervention in partnership with key stakeholders such as schools, primary 
care, Children’s Social Care, Voluntary and Community Groups and other 
organisations 

 
4.3 Leadership & Governance 
 

 A Project Board was established for the 0-5 Health Visiting Review. 
 This review was led by a Project Board made up of representatives from the 

following Council departments and organisations: 
- Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven Clinical Commissioning Group 
- BMDC Department of Childrens Services 
- BMDC Department of Public Health 
- Bradford City Clinical Commissioning Group 
- Bradford Districts Clinical Commissioning Group 

 A Project Plan was developed to identify the key tasks, stakeholders, 
methods of engagement and timescales 

 Consultation and engagement with key stakeholders, including health visitors, 
family Nurses, staff, service users, families 

 Information and evidence collated into a final report (Business Case) 
document detailing the findings of the review  

 
4.4 Scope of Review 
 

The scope of the review includes Health Visiting and FNP 
The review does not include the immunisation and vaccination service 
commissioned by NHS England Commissioning Board. 

 
4.5 Risks 
 

 Funding cuts of 6.2% have been agreed nationally in year for 2015/16  
 There is no guarantee that the Public Health allocations will remain the same.  

Page 19



10 

 Local Authority Regulations (2015) and the HV National Service Specification 
both refer to a local authority’s area and defined geographical population in line 
with Local Authority boundaries and localities, unlike current CCG boundaries.  

 RCT findings on Family Nurse Partnership 
 

4.6 Methodology 
 
 

The methodology used for the HV and FNP Review was based on three key 
priority areas. 
 

4.6.1 Literature review of key national and local policy context and strategy as 
summarised in 2.3 and 2.4 above and detailed in Appendix 2. 

4.6.2 Demographics and health and wellbeing needs of children age 0-5 so this 
informs the development of a new service model. Detailed information is 
available in Appendix 4 and 5 and summarised in section 2.5 and 2.6 above. 

4.6.3. Consultation and engagement using both qualitative and quantitative methods of 
consultation and engagement were used in order to consult with key 
stakeholders. As part of the review of Health Visiting Services and the Family 
Nurse Partnership, the views of stakeholders were sought using Questionnaires 
and Organised group discussions. Three different questionnaires were used, to 
collect the opinions of:  

- Families in receipt of Health Visiting Services  
- Families in receipt of the services of the Family Nurse Partnership  
- Stakeholders with an interest in Health Visiting Services and the Family 

Nurse Partnership  
Organised discussion groups were also carried out using SWOT analysis with the 
following groups: 
- Families with experience of Health Visiting Services and / or the Family Nurse 

Partnership, Health Visitors, Family Nurse Partnership staff, Health Visitor 
Service Strategic Management Group, Maternity Partnership, Children’s 
Centres, Early Years Services, Education, Children’s Transformation and 
Integration Group, Children’s Social Care, Clinical Commissioning Groups 
and General Practitioners.  

 
4.7 Findings 

4.7.1 Literature review 

Details of literature review can be found in Appendix 2. It is apparent from 
literature nationally and locally that there is a real emphasis on integrated 
working as well as a focus on early intervention and prevention, and targeted 
work in areas of greatest need. 

 

4.7.2 Demographics 

Bradford District is one of the most deprived local authorities in the whole of 
England with a changing population and a growing population of young children.  
A significant number of children age 0-5 are from diverse backgrounds, mainly 
Pakistani mothers, who are not all born in the UK. Further information is available 
in Appendix 4. 
 

4.7.3 Health and wellbeing needs and Health Inequalities 

There are huge inequalities within the district and targeting these early is an 
important part of the health visiting and FNP service as this is a universal service 
providing huge opportunities in terms of access and targeted interventions.  
Further detail is provided in Appendix 5. 
 
 
 

Page 20



11 

4.7.4 Consultation for Health Visiting services 

Details of the full consultation report can be found in Appendix 12. The aim of the 
consultation was to understand how people feel the system is working currently, 
and what their future expectations are of the services. There were two main 
methods used to obtain these opinions: (A) Questionnaires which were available 
both online and on paper and (B) Organised group discussions. 
 

(A) Questionnaires 
There were three questionnaires designed to obtain views from; 
 

I.Families in receipt of Health Visiting Services; 
- 227 respondents 
- Majority female 
- 77% aged 20-39  
- 60% of respondents described themselves as White or White British, 15% 

as Asian or Asian British, 4% as Central or East European remaining 21% 
from other minority ethnic groups. There is an over representation from 
the White British population. 

 

II. Families in receipt of the services of the Family Nurse Partnership; 
- 62 respondents 
- Majority female 
- 56% aged 19 and under, 32% aged 20-25 years which is expected with 

the nature of the service. 
- 84% of respondents described themselves as White or White British and 

6% as Asian or Asian British; 10% of respondents did not complete the 
question. This is consistent with the ethnic groups within the service 
population. 

 

III. Stakeholders with an interest in Health Visiting Services and the Family 
Nurse Partnership; 
- 129 Responses 
- Respondents were asked to identify which organisation they were 

responding on behalf of 49 selected ‘other,’ those who selected ‘Other’ 
included a number of people from the Bradford District Care Trust, 
including health professionals and commissioners, and from Family 
Centres, Nurseries and Social Services. 44 of which were GPs, 19 
childrens centres, 11 voluntary and community sector, 5 from education.   

 
(B) Organised Group Discussions 

For Health visitors there were seven events set up to get the views of HV 
staff and key stakeholders, the attendees at each event consisted of: 

 

- Event 1- Strategic Management Team; 13 attendees 
- Event 2 (Bradford) and 3 (Keighley) – Health visiting teams; 28 attendees 

in Bradford and 26 in Keighley 
- Event 4 and 6 - Stakeholders (Allied Professionals); 31 attendees in total 
- Event 5 and 7 – GPs and Practice Managers;  104 attendees in total 
- Families in receipt of HV service; In total there were 115 participants of 

which, 105 were female and 10 were male. 
- 27% identified themselves as White or White British and 51% Asian or 

Asian British 10% did not disclose their ethnicity, the groups were diverse 
and gave views of people who may not necessarily complete the 
questionnaire.  

 

Summary of key findings for consultation on Health Visiting Services:  

 

Access 
1. There is concern around the difficulties that service users experience when 

Page 21



12 

trying to contact their Health Visitor (HV); the most challenging aspect for 
families, HVs and allied professionals alike is the single point of access hub.  
Families also see the requirement to disclose their problems to an unknown 
intermediary as challenging. 

2. There is concern about the equity of access and the consistency of care given to 
service users and their families by HVs, both in terms of the amount and quality 
of support provided, and the clarity and consistency of the health messages 
offered. 

3. Participants feel that the location of services, and the environment in which they 
are delivered, are crucial to determining whether services are used efficiently 
and effectively; the key point made was that services should be delivered in 
locations that families already access routinely. 

People’s experience of the service 
4. Experiences of health visiting services reported by participating families have 

tended to be positive, but this positive view is not necessarily matched by the 
views of other stakeholders (Allied professionals.) 

5. The experiences of support received by mothers have tended to be positive; 
however, the amount and quality of support provided has not always been 
sufficient eg Breastfeeding and support around postnatal depression 

6. Participants feel that greater attention needs to be paid to continuity of care 
because service users get more out of the service, and say that they feel safer, 
when they are able to rely on a HV with whom they have established a trust 
based relationship. 

7. Participants report that the willingness of families to disclose personal issues is 
influenced by the environment in which the conversations with their HV take 
place; participants feel that services, whether these are delivered in a 
community setting or in the family home, need to afford greater privacy than is 
currently available. 

Organisational concerns 
8. Participants expressed concerns about whether current IT systems will support 

integrated working and data sharing between HVs and all of the other 
organisations involved in delivering services to children aged 0-5 years and their 
families. 

9. Participants are aware of the pressures under which HVs operate and feel that 
this has a negative impact on the quality of services; concerns were expressed 
about the capacity of HVs to meet the demands of their increasing workloads 
and continue to perform their role to required standards. 

10. The current “flat” structures of HV teams, and the consequent lack of leadership, 
were perceived as a problem by participants. 

11. Amongst participants a range of views were expressed about the organisation 
and alignment of HV teams; the majority of HV staff and stakeholders from 
partner organisations were in favour of geographical alignment and GPs 
expressed views that they wanted GP alignment to remain.  

12. Whilst many participants regard partnership working as strength of the current 
HV service, it was suggested that the service may function better through closer 
working and better integration with other services; the examples given included 
better integration with midwifery services, school nurses, general practitioners 
and Children’s Centres. 

Needs 
13. Participants understand that Bradford has a particularly diverse population and 

that needs vary from community to community; they feel that particular attention 
needs to be paid to the availability and quality of interpretation services and how 
these services are used in practice. 

14. There is acknowledgement of the prevailing economic environment of austerity 
across all services amongst participants, and a recognition that this will impact 
upon the HV service in the future. 

 

Page 22



13 

4.7.5 Consultation for Family Nurse Partnership (FNP)  

There were four events to obtain views of FNP staff members, key stakeholders 
and families in receipt of FNP. The attendees at each event consisted of; 
I. Event 1- FNP Staff Members; 12 attendees 

II. Event 2 - Stakeholders (Allied Professionals); 9 Attendees 

III. Event 3 - (Keighley) and 4 (Bradford) – Families in receipt of FNP; 11 

attendees in Keighley and 3 in Bradford 

This report on the consultation can be found in Appendix 12 
 

Summary of Key findings for consultation for Family Nurse Partnership (FNP): 
 

Access 
1. The Family Nurse Partnership (FNP) service is seen as providing very good 

support for a very small number of mothers and children.  However, families in 
receipt of HV and FNP services reported that they feel care is not delivered 
equitably across the district or across the population.   

2. Participants report that the service provided by their Family Nurse is accessible 
and fits around the needs of the family; it is seen as providing them with “valued 
continuity of care” and “robust support from very early on in pregnancy until (the) 
child is 2” to “break the cycle of deprivation”.  

People’s experience of the service 

3. Families in contact with FNP services value the continuity of care provided by 
their Family Nurse and the consistency of their advice and support.  FNP clients 
welcome the structured support provided by their Family Nurse and feel that “it 
prepares us properly for parenthood”. 

4. Knowledge and understanding the role of the HV is poor amongst clients of the 
FNP.  The step from intensive support to the lower level of support provided 
through the general service is a challenge for clients who do not have the same 
trust-based, well established relationship with their HV as they do with their 
Family Nurse.  Participants report finding the transition abrupt and also 
challenging because they are not sure that continuity of care will be maintained 
with the HV. 

Organisational concerns 
5. Concerns were expressed about whether the FNP service will continue in 

Bradford in the face of continuing funding restrictions, the organisational 
changes currently underway and the negative findings of the recent national 
evaluation of the FNP. 

6. Participants see the possibility of losing the FNP service, or it becoming ‘watered 
down’, as a significant threat to the children and families that the service 
supports who, because of the nature of FNP, are some of the most vulnerable 
families living the most deprived areas of the district. 

Opportunities for the future 
7. Participants expressed concern about the results of the national evaluation of 

FNP services, which showed no significant improvement in some short term 
outcomes for participants.  Locally in Bradford, there is a strong belief that the 
programme has made a difference.  

 
 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR A PROPOSED NEW MODEL   
 
 
 

5.1 Recommendations for proposed new Health visiting service model 
 

National and local policy context is being implemented locally and overall we 
have good HV and FNP services in place with both national and local 
performance monitoring arrangements established. Whilst the outcomes of the 
review and consultation have been mainly positive, we have drawn out areas 

Page 23



14 

from the consultation, which require improvement and further development in 
order to have a new model which is fit for purpose for the future and 
geographically aligned. Given the current financial climate it is even more 
important we have a model which is cost effective and demonstrates value for 
money. 
 
Throughout the review there has been consistency in the identification of the 
priorities and high-level service expectations.  This has been reflected in national 
and local policy, guidance, planning and informed by our key stakeholders and 
partners. A Summary of the proposed Service Model which will incorporate the 
key themes is provided in Appendix 14, with a summary of the high level 
principles provided below: 
 

1. Effective leadership, coordination and delivery of the Healthy child programme 
as highlighted in the 4-5-6 model, including the five mandated health checks, 6 
high impact areas and both universal and targeted services. 

2. Delivery of evidence based outcome focused interventions to improve health and 
wellbeing and reduce inequalities by focusing on needs of young children including 
vulnerable groups. 

3. Effective teams and partnerships, working across professions and 
organisations; using evidence based interventions and the development and 
implementation of appropriate pathways to support families with prevention and 
early intervention. 

4. Improved access to health visiting services through a geographically aligned 
model with clear alignment to children’s centre clusters. This includes 
recognising the important role and links to GPs and Primary care, and 
mapping of Voluntary and community Sector organisations and groups to 
support and signpost to where necessary. 

5. Improved communication and resources according to community needs, 
ensuring more “visibility” of health visitors and information and resources in 
appropriate languages. 

6. Workforce capacity and development to ensure diverse needs of 
communities are represented but also appropriate training to ensure a 
competent workforce and relevant skill mix providing consistency in 
messages. 

7. Targeted work with vulnerable Families and children with specific needs, and 
to ensure appropriate structures in place so families of children age 0-5 and 
mothers do not miss out on vital health checks. 

8. Service delivery to incorporate ‘Journey to Excellence’ with ‘Early Help’ and 
‘Signs of Safety’ as well as “Integrated Early Years Strategy for Children 0-7” 

9. A caseloads model to be developed and delivered according to need and 
priority. 

10. Nurse prescribing to include advice and support in managing minor illness 
and reducing hospital admissions, as well as providing level 1 contraceptive 
advice. 

11. Ensure robust transition into Early Years and schools, and close working with 
the School Nursing and Early Years Service. 

 

 

5.2 Recommendations for a new Family Nurse Partnership model 
 

In conclusion, whilst evidence from the consultation and findings from the FNP 
have provided excellent feedback from service users and key stakeholders, this 
has not correlated with national evidence from literature review and in particular 

Page 24



15 

the recent publication of the RCT, details of the RCT and outcomes is available 
in Appendix 11.  A Summary of the proposed Service Model which will 
incorporate the key themes is provided in Appendix 15, with a summary of the 
high level principles provided below. 
 

1. Develop a new model of FNP ADAPT which is fit for purpose and developed 
with locally defined outcomes.   

2. Embed the learning from the FNP into the proposed health visiting service, 
focusing on child development and a smoother transition from FNP to health 
visiting services.   

3. Work in partnership with Better Start Bradford to develop and pilot a model 
which is based on local need and supported by the National FNP Team 

4. Ensure robust performance and monitoring processes in place which can 
compare outcomes from Health visiting to FNP 

5. Consideration needs to be given to the longer term outcomes and wider 
determinants such as educational achievement and how these can be 
obtained and monitored as part of FNP 

 
This provides an opportunity to embed the learning from the FNP into the local 
health visiting service, which is identified as a gap in current service provision. 
This will need to focus on child development and a smoother transition from FNP 
to health visiting services.  One of the advantages locally in Bradford, unlike 
other neighbouring areas where - is that we have the Better Start Bradford. This 
provides a real opportunity to develop and pilot a model which is based on local 
need and supported by the national team with robust monitoring processes with 
more locally defined outcomes and criteria.   

 
5.3 Service specification 
 

It is recommended that a detailed service specification be developed to articulate 
the proposed service model.  The new service specification will be developed 
with advice from the Council’s Commercial Team and supported by a working 
group consisting of commissioning colleagues from Health, CCGs, BMDC 
Children’s Services (and other specialist input where it is required).   
 

5.4 Key Milestones 
 

Key milestones will be developed following approval at Council Executive and will 
include:   
 
DATE MILESTONE OBJECTIVE 
1/5/16 CMT/DMT MEETING Agree final business case/report 
6/5/16 BHCC MEETING  Agree final business case/report 
18/5/16 HV REVIEW BOARD Amend final business case/report 
14/6/16 EXECUTIVE/OSC 

APPROVAL 
Final business case/report to be 
approved with preferred option 

 
5.5 Performance Management 
 

5.5.1 During the Mobilisation period and the first six months, the provider will be 
required to meet with Public Health Commissioners on a monthly basis. 
Following this, the Provider will be required to submit quarterly performance 
monitoring information and meet (quarterly) with Public Health Commissioners to 
discuss performance. 

5.5.2 The contract and service specification will include a suite of performance 
indicators and targets.  Robust contract management arrangements will be put in 

Page 25



16 

place to ensure that services are delivered effectively and in accordance with the 
Council’s expectations. 

 
5.6 Understanding Service Demand 
 

5.8.1 As highlighted in Appendix 3 the sub national population projections suggest that 
the 0-5 population is due to increase by 10% by 2021. This presents the District 
with a growing challenge as over the last decade there has been an increase of 
over 20% in 0-4 year olds. A third of all births (33.1%) in Bradford are to mothers 
born outside the UK, higher than the average for England (27.3%). The second 
highest place of birth for mothers in Bradford are to those born in Pakistan 
(18.3%) followed by Poland 2.8% and Bangladesh (2.0%). Bradford East and 
Bradford West accounted for over half the total live births in 2013 (26.4% and 
25.7% respectively). Across Bradford district, live birth rates vary from ward to 
ward, with higher rates seen in wards such as Manningham, Bradford Moor, 
Bowling and Barkerend and Little Horton and lower rates seen in Ilkley, Baildon, 
Bingley Rural and Wharfedale 

 
5.8.2 If the new contract is to improve the health and wellbeing of babies, children and 

their families and reduce health inequalities it will need to allow scope for 
innovation and include consideration of: 

 
 Better utilisation of the workforce and skill mix, including delivery models 

based on geographical alignment  
 Integration with other key early years services to ensure effective efficient 

delivery of services including integrated pathways and joint training using 
the latest evidence to ensure interventions work effectively and have high 
impact on Children and families  

 Improved outcomes especially in those most at risk of health and well being 
inequalities  

 A focus on ‘must do’ business and identification of areas of current work 
that are no longer required or could be delivered by other services   

 A focus on ‘New Deal’ principles; focusing on ‘Early Help’, and empowering 
families and communities. 

 
6. COUNCIL POLICIES AND PRIORITIES 
 
6.1 Equality and Diversity 

An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is included as 
Appendix 16 of this report and assesses the equality and diversity impact of the 
recommendations and proposed service model described in this report. 
 

6.2 Council Policies and Priorities 
 

6.2.1 Bradford Council Strategic Priorities; despite the financial challenges that the 
district faces the Council remains committed to achieving the key objectives of: 
 Better health and better lives  
 Better skills, more good jobs and a growing economy  
 Safe, clean and active communities  
 Decent homes that people can afford to live in.  
 Good schools and a great start for all our children  
 

6.2.2 The commissioning of health visiting services directly supports the delivery of 
objectives and priorities from a range of Council strategies including the: 
 Health and Well Being Strategy & Health Inequalities Action Plan 2015-2018  
 Children & Young People’s Strategic Plan  
 Integrated Early Years Strategy (0-7 years) Bradford district 2015-2018  
 Better Start Bradford –improved outcomes for pregnant women and young 

children aged 0-3 years - School readiness, obesity and other key outcomes.  
Page 26



17 

HV services and FNP are an important part of the Better Start Bradford, £49 
million Big Lottery Programme targeting pregnant women and children age 0-
3 via 22 evidence based projects to improve outcomes 

 Integrated Care Pathway (ICP) in 2014 incorporating health visitors, 
midwifery and children services for children age 0-5 is key  

 Children Centres : Health visiting services are an important in relation to the 
Children centre (CC) services and CC Review –both services have similar 
focus and targets and effective  integrated working is key for the future  

 
6.3    New Deal 
 

6.3.1 New Deal is the Council’s approach to changing the way the Council and other 
public services work with people, communities, businesses and the voluntary 
sector to improve and protect the quality of life for people in the Bradford District. 

6.3.2 In order for the Council to achieve the key priorities, the Council will need to 
make changes to the type of services we buy and the way they are delivered by:  
 Reducing the demand for services by changing expectations and promoting 

involvement 
 Investing in prevention and early intervention 
 Reducing inequality 
 

6.4 Resources and Value for Money 
 

6.4.1 Like all Councils, Bradford has to cut spending. Government funding for Council 
funded services has been cut by £165 million over the last few years and the 
reductions are set to continue.  

6.4.2 Between now and 2020, the money for Council services (under the Council's 
direct control) is forecast to reduce by at least another 25%, on top of the savings 
already made.  

6.4.3 The numbers of younger and older people are growing and so are the numbers 
of people with disabilities. Other challenges include more children needing care 
and protection and managing the increase in costs associated with Inflation. This 
all puts pressure on services. 

 
Given the current financial climate, it is likely that the total cost of investment will 
be reduced so innovative solutions will need to be considered to ensure the 
proposed service model demonstrates value for money whilst managing an 
increase in demand and changing demographic need.  
 

6.5 Legal Implications 
 

The re-commissioning of the Health Visiting and FNP service will be conducted in 
accordance with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders, National and European 
procurement regulations.  Public Health is working with the Council’s Commercial 
Team to agree an appropriate sourcing option. 
 

6.6 Risk Management 
 

6.6.1  Risks associated with the re-commission of the health visiting service have been 
identified, reviewed and managed through fortnightly Project Team meetings and 
four weekly Project Board meetings. 

6.6.2  The identification of new and increasing risks is an on-going process and will 
continue to be identified and managed through the life of the project.  

 
 
7. CONCLUSION 

 
National and local policy context is being implemented locally and overall we have a 
good HV and FNP services for children aged 0-5 years with both national and local 
performance monitoring arrangements in place. Whilst the outcomes of the review and 
consultation have been mainly positive, we have drawn out areas from the consultation, 

Page 27



18 

which require improvement and further development in order to have a model which is fit 
for purpose for the future and geographically aligned. Given the current financial climate 
it is important we have a model which is cost effective and demonstrates value for 
money, as well as ensuring we develop a new model according to the needs and 
findings identified within the review process. 
 
 
8.  RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Executive Committee consider the Business Case for review 
of Health visiting and Family Nurse Partnership and give approval to proceed with the 
development of a detailed service specification to articulate the proposed service model.   
 
The new service specification will be developed with advice from the Council’s 
Commercial Team and supported by a working group consisting of commissioning 
colleagues from Health, CCGs, BMDC Children’s Services (and other specialist input 
where it is required).   
 
9.  BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Please refer to the Appendices document for the following Appendices: 

 

NUMBER: CONTENTS/TITLE Page 

Appendix 1: Introduction  1 

Appendix 2: National Policy Context & Evidence Base  3  

Appendix 3: Local Policy Context  9 

Appendix 4: Demographics   12 

Appendix 5: Health & Wellbeing Needs and Inequalities  15 

Appendix 6: Current Health Visiting Service model  19 

Appendix 7: Health Visiting and FNP Finance Breakdown   23 

Appendix 8: Health Visiting Performance  27 

Appendix 9: The Family Nurse Partnership  28 

Appendix 10: FNP RCT research and Local Bradford FNP  29 

Appendix 11: Family Nurse Partnership Performance  30 

Appendix 12: Consultation and Engagement (See Separate Document)  31 

Appendix 13: Proposed Model of Health visiting  32 

Appendix 14: New FNP Model  35 

Appendix 15: Equality & Diversity Impact Assessment  37 

 

Page 28



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
Review of Health Visiting and Family Nurse 

Partnership Service for Children age 0-5 
 
 

APPENDICES 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13 May 2016 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Page 29



 

 

NUMBER: CONTENTS/TITLE Page 

Appendix 1: Introduction  1 

Appendix 2: National Policy Context & Evidence Base  3  

Appendix 3: Local Policy Context  9 

Appendix 4: Demographics   12 

Appendix 5: Health & Wellbeing Needs and Inequalities  15 

Appendix 6: Current Health Visiting Service model  19 

Appendix 7: Health Visiting and FNP Finance Breakdown   23 

Appendix 8: Health Visiting Performance  27 

Appendix 9: The Family Nurse Partnership  28 

Appendix 10: FNP RCT research and Local Bradford FNP  29 

Appendix 11: Family Nurse Partnership Performance  30 

Appendix 12: Consultation and Engagement (See Separate Document)  31 

Appendix 13: Proposed Model of Health visiting  32 

Appendix 14: New FNP Model  35 

Appendix 15: Equality & Diversity Impact Assessment  37 

 

Page 30



 

1 

APPENDIX 1:  INTRODUCTION 
 
The aim of the review is to drive a culture change towards prevention, early intervention 
and integration of services to ensure children, young people and their families can 
access the support when they need it most, either through universal or targeted 
services. This is important given the pressure on budgets and the changing 
demographics and needs of the population. A system change is also necessary which 
means we need to change the way we commission and deliver services so they are 
evidence-based and draws on qualitative and quantitative information from key 
stakeholders, whether primary care, education, early years, health visiting staff or 
service users. 
 
The review is timely given that an integrated care pathway has already been developed 
and aligned with children centre clusters and linked to other pathways across early 
year’s services, including the early help offer and signs of safety. It is also an opportunity 
to ensure the approach links into the school nursing (5-19) review which is also being 
reviewed by Public Health, so there is a clear transition from early years into school.  
 
This report sets out the background for the Health Visiting and Family Nurse Partnership 
(FNP) Service and its purpose, examining the strategic policy context, local 
demographics and population needs. It then proceeds to explore the current service 
specification and model and outlines the key findings from the service review, detailing 
the proposed model which will be discussed with the various local Commissioning and 
Children’s Boards and require approval from the Council Executive.   
 
Background  
 
On 1st October 2015 NHS England transferred commissioning responsibilities for 
children aged 0 to 5 to local authorities. This marks the final part of the much larger 
transfer of public health functions to local government which took place on 1 April 2013 
under the Health and Social Care Act 2012  
 
NHS England Area Team put in place a single contract for the full-year of 2015/16, with 
a deed of novation transferring the contract to Public Health in year..  Health visiting and 
family nurses partnership. FNP services are now commissioned by the Bradford 
Metropolitan District Council and the contract held is one of the largest funded contracts 
managed within Public Health, currently delivered by a local NHS Provider. The current 
contract is based on national KPIs with some local variations agreed prior to transition, 
and is based on the Councils “resident populations” The transfer of commissioning 
responsibilities to Public Health has provided opportunity to review the Health Visiting 
and Family Nurse Partnership (FNP) service with the overall aim to improve health and 
wellbeing outcomes for babies, children and their families. 
 
Overview of the Health Visiting Service  
 
Evidence shows that what happens in pregnancy and the early years of life impacts 
throughout the life course. Therefore a healthy start for all our children is vital for 
individuals, families, communities and ultimately society. The experiences during the 
early years of childhood (including before birth) have lifelong effects on health and 
wellbeing. Health visitors play a crucial role in ensuring that children have the best 
possible start in life and lead delivery of the 0 to 5 elements of the Healthy Child 
Programme (HCP) which is an early intervention and evidenced based programme and 
is led and delivered by health visitors in partnership with other health and social care 
colleagues.  
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 

2 

 
Level of service provided by Health visiting teams 
 
Universal services ensure that families can access the Healthy Child Programme and 
that parents are supported at key times and have access to a range of community 
services. Universal plus offers rapid response from the local health visiting team when 
specific expert help is needed for example with postnatal depression, a sleepless baby, 
weaning or answering any concerns about parenting. Universal partnership plus 
provides ongoing support from the health visiting team and a range of local services to 
deal with more complex issues over a period of time. Current level of service provided by 
Health visiting teams indicate the following level of services for Universal and targeted 
services. 
 

Level Service Number % 
Tier 1 Universal 39918 94.1% 
Tier 2 Universal Plus 1577        3.7% 
Tier 3 Partnership 767          1.8% 
Tier 4 Partnership Plus 180          0.4% 
Total 42442  

 
 
Overview of the Family Nurse Partnership Service  
 
The Family Nurse Partnership (FNP) is a voluntary home-visiting programme for first 
time young parents aged 19 or under. It is not a universal service. A specially trained 
family nurse visits the young parent regularly, from early in pregnancy until the child is 
two years old. Where a family is under the care of the FNP, described in the Regulations 
as FNP beneficiary, the mandated reviews will be carried out by the family nurse. To 
ensure continuity for the family, the family nurse should carry out the 2 to 2½ year 
review.  
 
Aim of Review 
 
The transfer of commissioning responsibilities to the Council has provided an opportunity 
to review the Health Visiting Service, including: 
 

a) Review current guidance, policy and good practice to inform/identify a set of standards 
of which to review the current service and service model 

b) Analyse the current and emerging health and wellbeing needs of parents and the 0-5 
(years) population within the Bradford District 

c) Engage with key stakeholders; Parents, GPs, Early Years etc. 

d) Develop a model that meets current and emerging need, demonstrating quality and 
value for money. 

e) Integrating with current early years services for young children. 

f) To review current national and local policy, guidance and strategy relating to children 
age 0-5 and the transfer of Public Health into the Council, I order to improve the health 
and wellbeing outcomes for children and young people and their families. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



 

3 

APPENDIX 2: NATIONAL CONTEXT & EVIDENCE BASE 
 
Nationally new guidance and legislation highlight the importance of delivering prevention 
and early intervention services which are needs led and targeted to meet the needs of 
children, young people and their families.  In fact the importance of pregnancy, birth and 
beyond highlights the need to engage with families early through both universal and 
targeted interventions in areas of greatest need reducing the inequalities gap. Health 
visitors lead delivery of the HCP, this is a prevention and early intervention public health 
programme that lies at the heart of the universal service for children and families and 
aims to support parents at this crucial stage of life, promote child development, improve 
child health outcomes and ensure that families at risk are identified at the earliest 
opportunity.  
 

1. National Context 

a) The Department of Health, alongside its partners, has produced 6 documents to 
support local authorities and other stakeholders through the transition. The 
documents identify 6 areas where health visitors have the most impact on children 
aged 0 to 5’s health and wellbeing. Local authorities should use this information to 
ensure that health visiting services are commissioned effectively: Best start in life 
and beyond: Improving public health outcomes for children, young people and 
families – Guidance to support the commissioning of the Healthy Child Programme 
0-19: Health Visiting and School Nursing services. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-0-to-19-
health-visitor-and-school-nurse-commissioning  

Published in January 2016, the Guidance forms a suite of support guides to assist 
local authorities in the commissioning of health visiting and school nursing services 
to lead and co-ordinate the delivery of public health for children aged 0-19.   

b) Working together to Safeguard Children (revised Guidance) 2015 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/41959
5/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children.pdf 

The guidance makes clear that everyone who works with children – including 
teachers, GPs, nurses, midwives, health visitors, early year’s professionals, youth 
workers, police, Accident and Emergency staff, voluntary and community workers 
and social workers – has a responsibility for keeping them safe.  

The guidance outlines the importance of early help in promoting the welfare of 
children rather than reacting later. Early help can also prevent further problems 
arising and professionals should, in particular, be alert to the potential need for early 
help for children with specific needs or vulnerabilities.    

The guidance also highlights the Section 11 duties of the Childrens Act 2004 which 
will need to be considered as part of current service provision and alongside the role 
of School Nurses in their role in safeguarding and Child Protection. 

c) A new home for public health services for children aged 0-5 - Nationally, new 
guidance and legislation for children age 0-5  

d) Health visiting service specification for 2015-16 - NHS England has published a national 
core health visiting service specification for 2015-16. The refreshed specification has a 
strengthened focus on the role of health visitors as leaders for improving health and 
wellbeing outcomes for young children and their families. This document is a core 
specification detailing the core elements for the commissioning of health visiting services. 
It is an update of the 2014/15 document. 

e)   Children’s public health services contribute to the Public Health Outcomes 
Framework for England 2013 – 2016 (PHOF) which aims “to improve and protect the 
nation’s health and wellbeing and to improve the health of the poorest fastest.” 
(Healthy Lives, 2012) 

Page 33



 

4 

f) The healthy child programme: pregnancy and the first 5 years of life - One of the 
Department of Health (DH) key policy drivers is to give all children a healthy start in 
life and sets out plans for a universal preventative service, providing families with a 
programme of screening, immunisation, health and development reviews, 
supplemented by advice around health, wellbeing and parenting. Health Visiting 
services lead and deliver the Healthy Child Programme (HCP),

 
which is designed to 

offer a core, evidence based programme of support, starting in pregnancy, through 
the early weeks of life and throughout childhood. 

g) Health visitor implementation plan 2011-15: a call to action, February 2011 - Sets out 
a programme for renewing the Health Visiting Service, stressing the importance of 
pregnancy and the early years in laying the foundations for future health, learning 
and wellbeing. The Health Visitor Implementation Plan 2011-15 sets out the full 
range of services that families would expect from health visitors and their teams as 
part of the rejuvenated and transformed health service. The Plan sets out a call to 
action to expand and strengthen health visiting services (2011-15) 

h) Both the Healthy Child Programme 0-19 and the Munro Review acknowledge that 
integrated services and greater partnership working are essential to improving 
outcomes for children, young people and their families. 

i) The Marmot Review into health inequalities in England was published on February 
2010 as ‘Fair Society, Healthy Lives’.  The Review looked at the differences in health 
and wellbeing between social groups and described how the social gradient on 
health inequalities is reflected in the social gradient on educational attainment, 
employment, income, quality of neighbourhood and so on.  Professor Sir Michael 
Marmot's review of health inequalities gives priority to action in the early years. 
Giving every child the best start in life is crucial to reducing health inequalities across 
the life course. The foundations for virtually every aspect of human development – 
physical, intellectual and emotional – are laid in early childhood. 

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-
review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report 

Central to the Review is the recognition that disadvantage starts before birth and 
accumulates throughout life, and reducing this disadvantage and associated health 
inequalities requires action on six policy objectives including: 
 Giving every child the best start in life 
 Enabling all children, young people and adults to maximise their capabilities and 

have control over their lives 
 Creating fair employment and good work for all 
 Ensuring a healthy standard of living for all 
 Creating and developing sustainable places and communities 
 Strengthening the role and impact of ill-health prevention 

j) Healthy lives, healthy people: our strategy for public health in England 
This White Paper sets out the Government’s long-term vision for the future of public 
health in England. The aim is to create a ‘wellness’ service (Public Health England) 
and to strengthen both national and local leadership. 

k) Annual report of the chief medical officer 2012. Our children deserve better: 
prevention pays. This is volume two of the Chief Medical Officer’s annual report 
which focuses on children and young people. It is based on an examination of the life 
course stages experienced by those up to the age of 25 years.  

l) Rapid review to update evidence for the healthy child programme 0–5 
The purpose of this rapid review is to update the evidence which underpins the 
Healthy Child Programme, including systematic review level evidence about ‘what 
works’ in key areas: parental mental health; smoking; alcohol etc. 

m) Frank Field’s (2010) review of child poverty emphasises the importance of improving 
parenting and children’s early development as a means of ending the inter-
generational transmission of child poverty. He points to the impact that high-quality 

Page 34



 

5 

early education for two year olds can have on later life chances, noting that known 
vocabulary at age five is the best predictor of whether children are able to escape 
poverty in later life. 

n) The new health visiting service will be a key part of the response to the challenges 
they pose. Developments will also take account of Dame Claire Tickell’s Review of 
the Early Years Foundation Stage and Professor Eileen Munro’s Review of Child 
Protection. 

o) Early intervention: the next steps. An independent report to her Majesty’s 
Government - The first independent report to the government by Graham Allen MP 
considers how costly and damaging social problems for individuals can be eliminated 
or reduced. Graham Allen’s first report sets out his vision for system reform and 
recommends “early intervention” places, a greater reliance on evidence-based 
programmes, and an early intervention foundation.  

p) Under the Childcare Act 2006 Local authorities have statutory duties to secure 
sufficient provision of children’s centres to meet local need, as far as is reasonably 
practicable. Every children’s centre should have access to a named health visitor. 

q) Supporting Families in the Foundation Years is a joint publication between DfE and 
DH, recognising that, as Graham Allen says, coherent integrated services are 
essential.  

 
2. Legislative requirements 

 
a) Children Act 2004 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents 
The Children Act 2004 provides the legal basis for how social services and other 
agencies deal with issues relating to children and was designed with guiding 
principles in mind for the care and support of children. These are:  
 To allow children to be healthy  
 Allowing children to remain safe in their environments  
 Helping children to enjoy life  
 Assist children in their quest to succeed  
 Help make a contribution – a positive contribution – to the lives of children  
 Help achieve economic stability for our children’s futures 
This act was brought into being in order for the government in conjunction with social 
and health service bodies to help work towards these common goals. 

 
b) Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3/enacted 
The Public Services (Social Value) Act came into force on 31 January 2013 and 
requires local authorities commissioning public services to consider how they can 
secure wider social, economic and environmental benefits. 
Before the procurement process begins, commissioners should consider about 
whether the services they are going to buy, or the way they are going to buy them, 
could secure these benefits for their area or stakeholders.  

 
c) Health and Social Care Act 2012 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted 
Local Authorities are now responsible for improving the health of their population 
including commissioning of public health services for children and young people 
Directors of Public Health have taken responsibility as commissioners for school 
nursing services which are now funded through the Public Health grant, but also oral 
health improvement for children and more recently the transition into the local 
authority of health visiting and family Nurse partnership. 
 

d) Children and Families Act 2014 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted 

Page 35



 

6 

The Children and Families Act makes provision to provide greater protection to 
vulnerable children, better support for children whose parents are separating, a new 
system to help children with special educational needs and disabilities, and help for 
parents to balance work and family life.  

 
3. Evidence Base, Applicable National Service Standards and Suite of Evidence 

Based Interventions/Pathways  
 
Best start in life and beyond: Improving public health outcomes for children, young 
people and families provides guidance to support the commissioning of the Healthy 
Child Programme 0-19: Health Visiting and School Nursing services as highlighted 
below (Commissioning Guide 4: Reference guide to evidence and outcomes) 
 

 Healthy Child Programme – Pregnancy and the first five years of life (DH, 2009 – 
amended August 2010)  

 Better health outcomes for children and young people Pledge  

 The Children and Young People’s Health Outcomes Strategy (DH, 2012)  

 Allen, G. (2011a) Early Intervention: The Next Steps. HM Government: London  

 Allen, G. (2011b) Early Intervention: Smart Investment, Massive Savings. HM 
Government: London  

 Field, F. (2010) The Foundation Years: preventing poor children becoming poor 
adults. HM Government: London.  

 Health visitor implementation plan 2011-15: A call to action (DH, 2011)  

 The National Health Visitor Plan: progress to date and implementation 2013 onwards 
(DH, 2013)  

 The Operating Framework for the NHS in England 2012/13 (DH, 2011)  

 The NHS Outcomes Framework 2012/13 (DH, 2011)  

 Improving outcomes and supporting transparency, Part 1: A public health outcomes 
framework for England, 2013-2016 (DH, 2012)  

 Improving outcomes and supporting transparency, Part 2: Summary technical 
specifications of public health indicators, (DH, 2012)  

 The Marmot Review (2010) Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in England, post-
2010  

 Dame Clare Tickell (2011) The Early Years: Foundations for life, health and learning 
– An Independent Report on the Early Years Foundation Stage to Her Majesty’s 
Government  

 Hall D and Elliman D (2006) Health for All Children (revised 4th edition). Oxford: 
Oxford University Press. (Please note: this link opens to the bookstore for purchase 
of copies of this edition). 

 Service vision for health visiting in England (CPHVA conference 20-22 October 
2010)  

 Securing Excellence in Commissioning for the Healthy Child Programme 0 to 5 
Years 2013 – 2015  

 Equity and excellence: Liberating the NHS (DH, 2010) and Liberating the NHS: 
Legislative framework and next steps DH, 2011)  

 Achieving equity and excellence for children. How liberating the NHS will help us 
meet the needs of children and young people (DH, 2010)  

 Getting it right for children and young people: Overcoming cultural barriers in the 
NHS so as to meet their needs (DH, 2010)  

 Healthy lives, healthy people: our strategy for public health in England (DH, 2010) 
and Healthy lives, healthy people: update and way forward (DH, 2011)  

 Healthy lives, healthy people: a call to action on obesity in England (DH, 2011)  

 UK physical activity guidelines (DH, 2011)  

Page 36



 

7 

 Working Together to Safeguard Children: A guide to interagency working to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children (HM Government 2013)  

 Fair Society, Healthy Lives. A strategic review of health inequalities in England post 
2010 (The Marmot Review, 2010)  

 The 1001 Critical Days: The importance of the conception to age two period. Wave 
Trust, 2013  

 Conception to Age two: The Age of Opportunity. WAVE Trust and DfE  

 Annual Report of the Chief medical Officer 2012. Our Children Deserve Better: 
Prevention Pays. Department of Health, 2013  

 UNICEF UK Baby Friendly Initiative  
 

4. Applicable National Standards (NICE public health guidance) includes: 
 

Best start in life and beyond: Improving public health outcomes for children, young 
people and families provides guidance to support the commissioning of the Healthy 
Child Programme 0-19: Health Visiting and School Nursing services as highlighted 
below (Commissioning Guide 4: Reference guide to evidence and outcomes) 
 

 PH3 - Prevention of sexually transmitted infections and under 18 conceptions  

 PH6 - Behaviour change at population, community and individual level (Oct 2007)  

 PH8 - Physical activity and the environment 
 PH9 - Community engagement (July 2010)  

 PH11 - Maternal and child nutrition  

 PH12 - Social and emotional wellbeing in primary education  

 PH14 - Preventing the uptake of smoking by children and young people  

 PH17 - Promoting physical activity for children and young people  

 PH21 - Differences in uptake in immunisations  

 PH24 - Alcohol-use disorders: preventing harmful drinking  

 PH26 - Quitting in smoking in pregnancy and following childbirth (June 2010)  

 PH27 - Weight management before, during and after pregnancy (July 2010)  

 PH28 - Looked-after children and young people: Promoting the quality of life of 
looked-after children and young people (October 2010)  

 PH29 - Strategies to prevent unintentional injuries among children and young people 
aged under 15 Issued (November 2010)  

 PH30 - Preventing unintentional injuries among the under-15s in the home  

 PH31 - Preventing unintentional road injuries among under-15s  

 PH40 - Social and emotional wellbeing – early years: NICE public health guidance 
2012  

 PH42 - Obesity working with local communities  

 PH44 - Physical activity: brief advice for adults in primary care  

 PH46 - Assessing body mass index and waits circumference thresholds for 
intervening to prevent ill heath a premature death among adults from black, Asian 
and other minority ethnic groups in the UK.  

 PH49 - Behaviour change: individual approaches  

 CG43 - Obesity: Guidance on the prevention, identification, assessment and 
management of overweight and obesity in adults and children  

 CG45 - Antenatal and postnatal mental health: clinical management and service 
guidance (February 2007)  

 CG62 - Antenatal care: routine care for the healthy pregnant woman (March 2008)  

Page 37



 

8 

 CG89 - When to Suspect Child Maltreatment (July 2009)  

 CG93 - Donor milk banks: the operation of donor milk bank services  

 CG110 - Pregnancy and complex social factors: A model for service prevision for 
pregnant women with complex social factors 

 QS22 - Quality standards for antenatal care  

 QS31 - Quality standard for the health and wellbeing of looked-after children and 
young people  

 QS37 - Postnatal Care  

 QS43 - Smoking cessation: supporting people to stop smoking  

 QS46 - Multiple pregnancies  

 QS48 - Depression in children and young people  
 

5. The evidence base and key policy documents for the FNP include:  

 Ball, M. et al (2012) Issues emerging from the first 10 pilot sites implementing the 
Nurse Family Partnership home-visiting programme in England. London, Department 
of Health (https://www.wp.dh.gov.uk/publications/files/2012/08/3-Birkbeck-Final-
Issues-Evaluation-Report-For-Publication-July-2012.pdf)  

 Barnes, J. et al (2008) Nurse-Family Partnership Programme: First Year Pilot Sites 
Implementation in England, London DCSF. 
(http://education.gov.uk/publications/standard/publicationDetail/Page1/DCSF-
RW051)  

 Barnes, J et al (2009) Nurse-Family Partnership Programme: Implementation in 
England – Second Year in 10 Pilot Sites: the infancy period. London DCSF. 
(www.education.gov.uk/research/data/uploadfiles/DCSF-RR166.pdf)  

 Barnes, J. (2011) The Family-Nurse Partnership Programme in England: Wave 1 
Implementation in toddlerhood and a comparison between Waves 1 and 2a 
implementation in pregnancy and infancy 
(http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAn
dGuidance/DH_123238)  

 Barnes, J. et al (2012) Eligibility for the Family Nurse Partnership programme: testing 
new criteria. London, Department of Health 
(https://www.wp.dh.gov.uk/publications/files/2012/08/Eligibility-for-the-Family-Nurse-
Partnership-programme-Testing-new-criteria.pdf) 

 Department of Health (2011) FNP Evidence Summary Leaflet, Department of Health 
- FNP National Unit 
(http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/documents/digitalas
set/dh_128008.pdf)  

 
 Hall, D. & Hall, S. (2007). The “Family-Nurse Partnership”: developing an instrument 

for identification, assessment and recruitment of clients. Research report DCSF-
RW022. London: DCSF (http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/6740/1/DCSF-RW022.pdf)  

 

APPENDIX 3: LOCAL CONTEXT 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
In addition to the themes raised in the national policy context a review of local policy and 
planning emphasises the importance of working collaboratively with key partners to 
improve services and get better value for money, all underpinned by the ‘Journey to 
Excellence’ and ‘New Deal’ programmes and focusing on the delivery of sustainable 
interventions to improve health and wellbeing and reduce health inequalities. There is a 

Page 38



 

9 

particular focus on early help and integration of services, with opportunities from Better 
Start. 
 

1. New Deal for Bradford Council  
 
To support the management of budget reductions, the Council is talking to local people, 
communities, partners and businesses to develop a ‘New Deal’ for Bradford. The 
numbers of younger and older people are growing and so is the number of people with 
disabilities. Other challenges include more children needing care and protection. Inflation 
is also increasing costs. This all puts pressure on services. These are: 
 
1. Good schools and a great start for all our children 
2. Better skills, more good jobs and a growing economy 
3. Better health, better lives 
4. Safe, clean and active communities 
5. Decent homes that people can afford to live in 
 
The Council is working with partners to innovate, share money and resources,  work 
towards the same goals, and liaise with local people and communities to establish a 
‘New Deal’ about what they can expect from local services, their rights and 
responsibilities, and how they and other people could help by doing things differently and 
the support required to achieve.  The review of the health visiting service will support 
New Deal. 
 

2. Bradford District Health and Well Being Strategy 2015-2018 
http://www.observatory.bradford.nhs.uk/Documents/Bradford%20and%20Airedale%20Jo
int%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202013.pdf 
Bradford’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy “Good Health and Wellbeing: Strategy to 
improve health and wellbeing and reduce health inequalities 2013-2017 outlines the key 
objectives, priorities and actions required to secure improvements in health and 
wellbeing, to reduce health inequalities and ensure life expectancy continues to improve 
in line with national and regional trends. The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
provides a strategic examination of “need” across the Bradford District and provides the 
evidence-base to inform the Joint health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS), in particular 
helping to identify the key priorities for the District.   
 
The following objectives and priorities are particularly relevant to health visiting Service: 
 Objective 1; Give every child the best start in life 
 Objective 2: Enable all children, young people and adults to maximise their 

capabilities and have control over their lives.   
- in particular Priority 5: Reduce childhood obesity and increase levels of physical 

activity and healthy eating in children and young people 
 Objective 6: Strengthen the role and impact of ill health prevention 
 

3. Bradford District Health Inequalities Action Plan 2013 - 2017 
http://www.observatory.bradford.nhs.uk/Documents/Bradford%20and%20Airedale%20H
ealth%20Inequalities%20Action%20Plan%202013.pdf 
The Health Inequalities Action Plan was developed to support the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy to improve health and wellbeing specifically targeting activity to 
address the significant inequalities within the district; in some parts of the district, people 
lead far shorter, less healthy lives than those in other areas.  
The Key Priorities for the Action Plan that relate to the Health Visiting Service are Infant 
mortality, Oral health, Obesity, Parenting & early years, children SEN and disabilities 
and Child poverty. 
 

4. Children and Young People’s Plan 2014-16 
http://www.bradford.gov.uk/bmdc/health_wellbeing_and_care/child_care/young_peoples
_plan 

Page 39



 

10 

The Children and Young People’s Plan is the joint strategic plan for the Bradford 
Children’s Trust.  
The plan identifies how partners will work together to promote the health and wellbeing 
of children and young people in the Bradford District. It summarises activity to plan, 
commission or provide services, as well as the impact expected on the lives of children, 
young people and families.  

The key priority areas for the plan are:  
 Ensuring that children start school ready to learn 
 Acceleration educational attainment and achievement 
 Ensuring young people are ready for life and work 
 Ensuring that there is education, employment and skills for all 
 Safeguarding vulnerable children and young people 
 Reducing health and social inequalities 
 

5. Child Poverty Strategy 2014-2017 
https://www.bradford.gov.uk/NR/rdonlyres/D5E6B555-992E-4779-A8BF-
AD09C053051C/0/ChildPovertyStrategy201417.pdf 
The Child Poverty Strategy describes the most important issues to address to reduce the 
impact of child poverty. 
In the most recent district child poverty data for 2011, one in four children and young 
people (25.8%) aged 0-19 lived below the child poverty line in households with less than 
60% of average income. Nationally the rate is one in five (21.1%). 
The three priorities of the Strategy are: 
 Boosting educational attainment and skills for children, young people and families in 

poverty to improve their job prospects and reduce worklessness. 
 Reducing health and social inequalities 
 Creating safe homes and neighbourhoods for all children and young people. 
 

6. 5 Year Forward Plan for Bradford Airedale and Craven & 3 CCG Plans  
Improved Maternal and Child Health is a key part of the CCG plans 
 

7. Key Strategic Outcomes for Integrated Early Years Strategy (0-7 years) Bradford 
district 2015-2018 
This is particularly relevant to health visiting and FNP services as objectives and priority 
areas include a focus on infant mortality, Oral health, Obesity and School readiness 
(Good level of development), Year 1 Phonics and KS1 phonics Year 2 reading, writing 
and maths. 
 

8. Better Start Bradford (Improved outcomes for pregnant women and young 
children aged 0-3 years)  
HV services and FNP are an important part of the Better Start Bradford, £49 million Big 
Lottery Programme targeting pregnant women and children age 0-3 via 22 evidence 
based projects to improve outcomes in relation to School readiness, obesity and other 
key outcomes.   
 

9. Integrated Care Pathway (ICP) in 2014 incorporating health visitors, midwifery and 
children services for children age 0-5 which is key to health visiting. 

10. Children Centres 
Health visiting services are an important part of Children Centre services and particularly 
in relation to the integrated care pathway. Health targets in relation to key priorities have 
also been included into children centre specifications.  
There is also an expectation that there will be a named Health Visitor attached to the 
children centre and also a health Visitor lead on the Advisory Board. 
 

11. Children Centre Review 
Both services have similar focus and targets and effective integrated working is key 
priority for future.  The 7 children centre clusters will have health visitor leadership to 
deliver on integrated working and support and enhance the care pathways for children 

Page 40



 

11 

age 0-5 in particular there is a string focus on the two year reviews and child 
development as well as enhancing support offered for mothers, babies and children. 
 

12. Families First 
http://www.bradford.gov.uk/bmdc/BCYPP/families_first 

Families First has been recognised within the recent specifications as an important part 
of the links with health visiting and FNP. 
 
Families First is a local programme forming part of the national Troubled Families 
Programme, working with families facing serious problems. The programme addresses 
other issues that these families are likely to experience including: debt and financial 
difficulties, housing problems, health issues, substance abuse and domestic violence.  
 
Families First is unique in Bradford in that the scheme focuses on the needs of the 
whole family rather than individual members, the family is supported by a key worker 
working within a multi-disciplinary team, and includes health.  Those families with the 
greatest needs are targeted, this comprises of up to 600 families a year. The programme 
is also designed to last beyond the end of the funding, by making long-lasting changes 
to the way that different agencies, such as the Council, Police and Health Services, work 
together, in order to improve services and get better value for money. 
 

13. Journey to Excellence 
http://www.bradford.gov.uk/bmdc/health_wellbeing_and_care/child_care/journey_to_exc
ellence_thriving_children_strong_families 
Journey to Excellence is a new programme of change involving key partners across the 
district. Its purpose is to ensure there is a shared approach to working with families that 
builds on their strengths and provides safety and stability for children. Hence is an 
important part of health visiting and FNP as focuses on developing the integrated Early 
Help offer across all key agencies which includes: 
 

 develop an ‘Early Help’ gateway for the public and staff  
 develop an approach that takes account of the whole family  
 get it right first time to reduce repeat referrals  
 focus on reducing the demand on children’s specialist services 

 
BMDC Childrens Services are working with partners, including Health Visiting services to 
develop a plan to use Signs of Safety to cut across the programme. Signs of Safety is a 
practice tool to identify strengths, risks and clear action plans with families. It provides an 
assertive and shared approach to assessing needs and draws upon techniques from 
Solution Focused Brief Therapy.  The programme has worked well in other Local 
Authorities to reduce demand for specialist services and improve outcomes for children 
and young people.  
 
 
 

APPENDIX 4: DEMOGRAPHICS 
 
Bradford District is one of the most deprived local authorities in the whole of England, 
ranking 19th in the 2015 indices of multiple deprivation (IMD) and 2nd most deprived in 
the Yorkshire and Humber region (after the City of Kingston upon Hull). This compares 
to the ranking of 26th for IMD 2010. Bradford’s position relative to other English districts 
has worsened by 7 places. 
 

1. POPULATION 
 
The number and proportion of the district’s total population aged under 19 years is 
increasing and the relatively high proportion that live in poverty is likely to increase the 
general demand for services and support to families including early help and preventive 

Page 41



 

12 

services as well as those that seek to reduce the impact of poverty. This presents the 
District with a growing challenge as over the last decade there has been an increase of 
over 20% in 0-4 year olds.  
 

Age Groups 2014

0-4yrs 41,018

5-9yrs 40,036

10-14yrs 36,145

15-19yrs 35,393  
Source: Mid-2014 Population Estimates, ONS 

 
a) Children aged 0-5 

 There are 49,270 children aged 0-5 in Bradford District this equates to 9% of the 
total population (Mid 2014 population estimates, ONS.)  

 In 2013 there were 8,039 live births in Bradford district compared with 8,322 live 
births in 2012 (a decrease of 3.4%)  

 The birth rate fell from 15.9 live births per 1,000 population in 2012 to 15.3 live 
births per 1,000 population in 2013 despite the birth rate having decreased over 
the last few years the rate still remains higher than the average for both England 
and Yorkshire and the Humber.  

 The sub national population projections suggest that the 0-5 population is due to 
increase by 10% by 2021.  

 
b) Deprivation 

Of the 8,039 live births registered in 2013, 58.9% (4,731 births) occurred in the most 
deprived quintile of Bradford. The live birth rate increases as deprivation increases 
across Bradford district with the crude birth rate for the most deprived quintile of 
Bradford being 2.5 times greater than the least deprived quintile (19.9 live births per 
1,000 population compared to 7.7 live births per 1,000 population respectfully). 

 
c) Gender 

As would be expected, there is an even split between the number of girls and boys in 
Bradford and district. 

 
d) Ethnicity 

Bradford district contains a rich mix of ethnic groups and cultures.  Approximately  
just under half of the Districts 0-19 population are from Black and Minority Ethnic 
(BME) groups. The district has some newly established communities that are 
growing relatively fast through inward migration. These communities are mostly of 
white ethnicities from Central or Eastern European countries with a significant 
Roma/Gypsy element within some of the communities. 

 
Approximately half of the 0-4 population identify themselves as White British or 
White Other (this category is likely to include individuals from Central Eastern 
European communities previous years have seen an increase in migration from 
these communities, however it is difficult to understand the true extent of the 
migration.) The other half is made up of Black and Minority Ethnic groups, with a 
significant amount from Pakistani heritage. The following table shows the proportion 
of 0-4 year olds by ethnicity based on the 2011 census.  

 

Ethnicity 0 to 4 year 
olds 

White British 47.3% 
White: Other (Including Irish and gypsy or Irish 
traveller) 

3.4% 

Mixed/ multiple ethnic group 5.7% 
Pakistani 32.3% 

Page 42



 

13 

Other Asian (Including Indian, Bangladeshi and 
chinese) 

7.6% 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British 1.7% 
Other ethnic group 2.0% 

 
 
e) Religion 

It is important that the health visiting service understands the diversity of religious 
beliefs present in the population of Bradford. According to the 2011 census, the 
largest religious category amongst 0-14 year olds is Muslim, as the following table 
shows. It is essential that certain interventions and/or advice may need to take 
religious beliefs into account. This was highlighted in the consultations where cultural 
needs were a barrier to access for some services. 

 
Religion Age 0 to 4 Age 5 to 9 Age 10 to 14 Age 15 to 19 
Muslim 38.96% 40.44% 36.73% 32.04% 
Christian 26.69% 31.28% 34.64% 36.24% 
No religion 24.87% 20.48% 20.89% 23.95% 
Not stated 7.90% 6.14% 5.86% 5.86% 
All other 1.57% 1.65% 1.87% 1.91% 

 
f) Child poverty 

The large and growing 0-19 population in the District mean that a 25.8% child 
poverty rate equates to 35,820 children and young people aged 0-19. Consistently 
we find that just over half of children who live in poverty live in 6-8 of the most urban 
of the District’s 30 wards. The most recent figures show that half of children in 
poverty (51.8%) live in 8 wards. In order of the largest number of children in poverty 
per ward these are: Bradford Moor, Little Horton, Manningham, Bowling and 
Barkerend, Tong, Toller, Great Horton and City wards (HM Revenue and Customs, 
2013). 

 
This Bradford Public Health Analysis provides a broad analysis of live births and 
stillbirths within Bradford district as follows: 

 
2. BIRTHS  

 
a) Live births  

There were 8,039 live births in Bradford district in 2013 compared with 8,322 live 
births in 2012 (a decrease of 3.4% compared to a 4.3% decrease for England). 
Between 2007 and 2010 the total number of births increased year on year from 
8,288 in to 2007 to 8,629 in 2010. Since then however, the number of annual live 
births have fallen and are now below those seen in 2007.  

 
b) Crude live birth rate  

The crude live birth rate for Bradford has fallen annually from 16.9 live births per 1,000 
population in 2008 to 15.3 live births per 1,000 population in 2013.  

 
 
c) Stillbirths  

The number of stillbirths in Bradford district fell from 59 in 2012 to 58 in 2013. 
Although the number of live births per year has generally fallen since 2010, the 
number of stillbirths has remained the same, at an average of 59 per year.  
The stillbirth rate in Bradford district increased from 7.0 stillbirths per 1,000 total births in 
2012 to 7.2 stillbirths per 1,000 total births in 2013. The increase in stillbirth rate in 2013 
can be attributed to by the number of stillbirths remaining the same as previous years, 
but the number of live births falling from previous years. 

 
d) Low birth weight  

Page 43



 

14 

The proportion of those babies who have a birth weight less than 2,500g in Bradford 
district in 2013 was 8.1% compared to 8.6% in 2012. Both the number and proportion of 
low birth weight babies have generally fallen over the last 7 years, from 808 low birth 
weight births (9.8%) in 2007 to 646 (8.6%) low birth weight births in 2013 

 
e) Live births to mothers born outside the UK  

A third of all births (33.1%) in Bradford are to mothers born outside the UK, higher 
than the average for England (27.3%). The second highest place of birth for mothers 
in Bradford are to those born in Pakistan (18.3%) followed by Poland 2.8% and 
Bangladesh (2.0%).  

 
f) Live births across Bradford district  

Bradford East and Bradford West accounted for over half the total live births in 2013 
(26.4% and 25.7% respectively). Across Bradford district, live birth rates vary from ward 
to ward, with higher rates seen in wards such as Manningham, Bradford Moor, Bowling 
and Barkerend and Little Horton and lower rates seen in Ilkley, Baildon, Bingley Rural 
and Wharfedale 

 
g) Location of birth  

Approximately 90% of all births occur within the two main hospitals in Bradford, with 
babies born in Bradford Royal Infirmary accounting for over two thirds (69.0% in 2013) 
of all the births in Bradford district. The proportion of births occurring at each location 
has remained relatively similar since 2007, with a slight increase being seen in the 
proportion of live births occurring at home and those births at Bradford Royal Infirmary 
and a small decrease in the proportion of births occurring at Airedale General. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 5: HEALTH & WELLBEING NEEDS & INEQUALITIES  
 
There are inequalities in the Health and Wellbeing for young children, and those 
particularly relevant to the Health visiting services which focus on families and children 
age 0-5. Infant mortality rates, obesity rates and poor oral health are all worse than 
average compared to regionally and nationally, and are worse in more deprived areas. 
 

a) Infant Mortality 
 
Infant mortality is the death of a child less than one year of age. The latest figures show 
the infant mortality rate in Bradford was 5.9 per 1,000 live births in 2011-13 but still 
higher than regionally or nationally. Health visitors have a crucial role as they offer a 
universal service to all women with children in this age group and offer early intervention, 
prevention and more targeted support. Health visitors have a crucial role in supporting 
early access to services. 

 

Page 44



 

15 

 
 
 

b) Obesity 
 
Obesity rates are higher than regionally or nationally 19.7% of reception pupils in Bradford 
are overweight or obese (NCMP 2014/15) 35.7% of Year 6 pupils in Bradford are 
overweight or obese (NCMP 2014/15).   Health Visitors have an important role in relation to 
a healthy start from birth to five where diet and weaning advice is crucial.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

c) Oral Health 
 
Tooth decay in 5 year olds is measured as the average number of decayed, missing or filled 
teeth (dmft).The latest dmft rate in Bradford is 1.98 in 2011/12; higher than nationally or 
regionally Dmft is significantly higher in wards such as Toller, Bradford Moor and Little 
Horton. Dmft is significantly lower in wards such as Baildon, Worth Valley and Craven. Oral 
health has been included as an important part of the health visiting service where a 
universal service is provided to all children with information  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
         

 

 

Page 45



 

16 

 
 
 
 
 

d) Emergency admissions for unintentional injuries (2012/13) 
 
Managing minor illness and reducing accidents (reducing hospital 
attendance/admissions). Illness such as gastroenteritis and upper respiratory tract 
infections, along with injuries caused by accidents in the home, are the leading causes 
of attendances at Accident & Emergency departments and hospitalisation amongst the 
under 5s. Managing minor illnesses and reducing accidents is identified as one of the six 
high impact areas for children age 0-5, and an important part of the early intervention 
and prevention role health visitors can promote. As can be seen from local data ct areas 
Out of 496 emergency admissions for children age 0-4 for unintentional injuries, the 
following include the top five areas: 
 

Unintentional injuries (2012/13) for children age 0-4 % 
1. Open wound of head 25.0% 
2. Open wound of wrist and hand  14.1% 
3. Other and unspecified injuries of head  9.5% 
4. Superficial injury of head  7.9% 
5. Fracture of forearm  7.2% 
Total 63.7% 

 

e) Sexual Health - Teenage conceptions  
 
The latest data shows that, when averaged across the four quarters of Q2 2013 to Q1 
2014, the teenage conception rate of 28.9 per 1,000 in the Bradford district was higher 
than the Yorkshire and The Humber rate of 28.1 per 1,000 and the England rate of 23.9 
per 1,000. The Bradford district teenage conception rate has decreased considerably 
over time from 57.1 per 1,000 in 1998 which, at the time, was the highest rate in West 
Yorkshire. The trend over time has decreased in all West Yorkshire local authorities and 
the rates are now very similar. Improved education and working with young people and 
their parents has been key to reducing teenage pregnancies across the Bradford district, 
and the role of the School Nurse may be key in influencing this 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

U
n
d
er
 1
8
 c
o
n
ce
p
ti
o
n
s 
ro
lli
n
g 
an
n
u
al
 r
at
e*
 p
e
r 

1
,0
0
0
   
   
   

Under 18 conception rates - comparing Bradford to regional and national 
rates

Bradford

Yorkshire and
The Humber

England

Source: ONS quarterly 
conception data and 
the Bradford Public 
Health Analysis Team

*Under 18 
conceptions are 
defined as all live 
births and 
terminations for 15-17 
year old women

 
 
Across the four quarters of Q2 2013 to Q1 2014, there were 308 conceptions for 15-17 
year old women in the Bradford district, although it is unknown what proportion of the 
conceptions results in a live birth and what proportion terminates the pregnancy. 

Page 46



 

17 

The following map shows that the wards with the highest teenage conception rates in 
2010-2012 were Wyke, Tong and Keighley West. Between 2009-2011 and 2010-2012, 
the ward with the greatest increase in rate was Wyke which has not been considered a 
hotspot historically. This highlights the importance of monitoring the changing Public 
Health needs of local people.  
 

f) Educational outcomes 
 
Below average ‘Good levels of development’ aged 5 years in Reception year (Early 
Years Foundation Profile) – also known as ‘school readiness’ - compared to nationally 
62% Bradford compared to 66% for England.  This is worse in more deprived areas of 
the district. 
 Educational attainment is improving but remains below national averages and much 

lower in more deprived areas. 53% of children obtain 5 A-C GCSEs including English 
and Maths compared to 59% nationally.  

 Less children achieve a good level of development at age 5 than nationally. 36% of 
children eligible for free school meals achieved a ‘good’ level of development aged 5, 
compared to 56% of children not so eligible.  

 
g) Child Health Profile – 2016 

 
The Child Health Profile for Bradford local authority is published annually (last updated 
15 March 2016) via Public Health England, and provide a snapshot of performance 
around child health and wellbeing, using 32 selected key health indicators. This profile 
(below) enables comparisons to be made locally, regionally and nationally. 
 

http://www.chimat.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=273397 
 
 
 

Page 47



 

18 

 

Page 48



 

19 

APPENDIX 6: CURRENT HEALTH VISITING SERVICE 
 

Based on the tier waiting lists Bradford District Health Trust (BDFHT) indicate a total 
number of 42,442 children age 0-5, of which 39,918 are universal contacts (94.1% 
respectively) as stated below: 
 

Level Service Number % 
Tier 1 Universal 39918 94.1% 
Tier 2 Universal Plus 1577        3.7% 
Tier 3 Partnership 767          1.8% 
Tier 4 Partnership Plus 180          0.4% 
Total 42442  

 
1. Health Outcomes 

Children’s public health services contribute to the Public Health Outcomes Framework 
for England 2013 – 2016 (PHOF) which aims “to improve and protect the nation’s health 
and wellbeing and to improve the health of the poorest fastest.” Specifically, children’s 
public health contributes to:  

Improving the wider 
determinants of health 

 PHOF 1.2: School readiness  

Health Improvement  PHOF 2.2: Breastfeeding initiation and prevalence 
at  6-8 weeks after birth  

 PHOF 2.5: Child development at 2-2½ years  
 PHOF 2.6: Excess weight in 4 – 5 year olds  
 PHOF 2.7: Hospital admissions caused by 

unintentional and deliberate injuries in under 5s 
 PHOF 2.21: Access to non-cancer screening 

programmes  
Health Protection  Population vaccination coverage (PHOF 3.3)  

  
Healthcare public 
health and preventing 
premature mortality 

 PHOF 4.1: Infant mortality  
 PHOF 4.2:Tooth decay in children aged 5  

The Government, NHS England, Public Health England, Royal Colleges, local 
government organisations and others signed up to the pledge for Better health outcomes 
for children and young people in February 2013.  

The indicators set out in the Public Health Outcomes Framework can be used to monitor 
and measure effectiveness of local efforts to improve public health:  

 Child development at 2 – 2 ½ years  
 Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries  

 
Other indicators include:  

 
 Children in poverty  
 Improved vaccination coverage  
 Improved School readiness  
 Reduced Pupil absence  
 Increase in 16-18 yr olds not in education, employment or training  
 reduction in Under 18 conception rate  
 reduced 1st time entrants to the youth justice system  
 reduced hospital admissions for intentional self-harm  
 reduced Hospital admissions for alcohol-related harm  
 reduction in Domestic violence  
 reduced Rates of violent crime including sexual violence 

Page 49



 

20 

 

2. Service description for the universal elements of the HCP  

The universal elements of the HCP are delivered by a team led by health visitors 
working in a way that is most appropriate to local public health needs and across a 
range of settings and organisations including general practice, maternity services and 
children’s centres (except where families are accessing FNP, in which case the FNP 
nurse – family nurse – will take on this role until the child is two years old). As an 
overview, core elements of the HCP include:  
a) Health and development reviews – To assess family strengths, needs and risks; 

provide parents the opportunity to discuss their concerns and aspirations; assess 
child growth and social and emotional development; and detect abnormalities.  

b) Screening – an integral part of the universal HCP. Commissioning of national 
childhood screening programmes is specified separately (NHSE) 

c) Immunisations – Immunisations should be offered to all children and their parents. 
General practices and child health record departments maintain a register of children 
under five years, invite families for immunisations and maintain a record of any 
adverse reactions in the CHIS.

 

Commissioning of childhood immunisation 
programmes is specified separately (NHSE).  

d) Promotion of social and emotional development – The HCP includes 
opportunities for parents and practitioners to review a child’s social and emotional 
development, for the practitioner to provide evidence-based advice and guidance 
and for the practitioner to decide when specialist input is needed.  

e) Support for parenting – One of the core functions of the HCP is to support 
parenting using evidence-based programmes and practitioners who are trained and 
supervised.

 

 
f) Effective promotion of health and behavioural change – Delivery of population, 

individual and community-level interventions based on NICE public health guidance.  
g) Sick children – Supporting parents to know what to do when their child is ill.  
h) Children with a disability – Early diagnosis and early help. 

 

3. Safeguarding  
 

 
4. The specification reflects the 4-5-6 model  

 
a) Four progressive tiers of health visiting practice – building community capacity; the 

universal elements of the Healthy Child Programme; targeted interventions to meet 
identified need, and partnership working to meet complex needs 

Page 50



 

 21

 
 

b) Delivery of the Five universal HCP checks and reviews  
 
As part of the transfer of services the Department of Health (DH) has mandated local 
authorities (under section 6C of the NHS Act 2006) to ensure the provision of the 
following five key elements of the HCP to be delivered by health visitors: 
 
1. Antenatal health promoting reviews 
2. New baby reviews 
3. Six to eight week assessments 
4. One year assessments and 
5. Two to two and a half year reviews. 
 
Health visitor service delivery metrics were developed by NHS England in order to 
provide assurance on service transformation in England around the five key areas and 
reporting included the following indications: 
 
 Number of mothers who received a first face to face antenatal contact with a health 

visitor at 28 weeks or above;  
 % of new birth visits completed after 14 days;  
 % of 6 to 8 week development reviews completed by 8 weeks;  
 % breastfeeding (fully or partially) at 6 to 8 weeks;  
 % of 12 month development reviews completed by the time the child turned 12 

months;  
 % of 12 months development reviews completed by the time the child turned 15 

months;  
 % of 2 to 2½ year reviews completed by age 2½ years;  
 % of 2 to 2½ year development reviews delivered using the ASQ-31 (new indicator).  
 

c) Six high impact areas:  
 
 Working in partnership with other services in supporting assessment of education 

and health and care plans for children aged 0-5s is a strong focus, including a family 
centred approach to meeting the needs of children with Special Educational Needs 
and contributing to high intensity multi-agency services where there are safeguarding 
or child protection concerns. The specification highlights the health visiting 
contribution as experts and leaders in delivering better health and wellbeing for 0-5s. 
The Six High Impact Area documents have been developed to articulate the 
contribution of health visitors to the 0-5 agenda and describe areas where health 

Page 51



 

 22

visitors have a significant impact on health and wellbeing and improving outcomes 
for children, families and communities. This includes: 

 
1. Transition to Parenthood and the Early Weeks  
2. Maternal Mental Health (Perinatal Depression) 
3. Breastfeeding (Initiation and Duration) 
4. Healthy Weight, Healthy Nutrition (to include Physical Activity) 
5. Managing Minor Illness and Reducing Accidents (Reducing Hospital 

Attendance/Admissions) 
6. Health, Wellbeing and Development of the Child Age 2 – Two year old 

review (integrated review) and support to be ‘ready for school’ 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



 

 23

 

APPENDIX 7: STAFFING AND FINANCE 
 
Staffing  

 
The Health Visiting Service is split into multidisciplinary teams comprising of qualified 
Nurses, Nursery Nurses and Health Care Support Workers.   
 
Expansion of FNP took place from 2011 over 3 years and is now funded for Supervisors, 
Family Nurses and Quality Support Officer during 2015. The team has a maximum 
capacity for delivery of FNP to 245 clients. There are a total of:  
 
 There are a total of 215.66 WTE HV staff (Qualified HV and FNP (Band 6 and above) 

= 163.12WTE.   

 12.61 FNP staff 

 Totalling 228.27 staff.  

 
 
Finance 

 
The current service transferred from NHS England with a part year budget and Contract 
value of £6,020,319 for 2015/16. At the point of the Review, the contract value for 
2016/17 was £10,692,530. 

 

 

Page 53



 

 24

 

APPENDIX 8: CURRENT PERFORMANCE (HV) SERVICES 
 
Level of service provided by Health visiting teams 
 
Based on the tier waiting lists BDCFHT indicate the following level of services for 
Universal and targeted services.   
 

Level Service Number % 
Tier 1 Universal 39918 94.1% 
Tier 2 Universal Plus 1577        3.7% 
Tier 3 Partnership 767          1.8% 
Tier 4 Partnership Plus 180          0.4% 
Total 42442  

 
Current Service Performance 
 
The current service is based on national KPIs, although local variations include Healthy 
start and oral health, as well as ensuring integrated working and Health Visitor 
leadership to the children centre clusters of which there are now seven.  
 
Mandated Health Checks 
 
Current measures  based on the five mandated health checks and reviews and includes 
the KPIs highlighted in table below which is collected quarterly. 
 

Indicator/Measurement 
Number of mothers who received a first face to face antenatal contact 
with a health visitor at 28 weeks or above 
% of new birth visits completed within 14 days  
% of new birth visits completed after 14 days;  
Total number due 6-8 week check 
Number of infants where breastfeeding status is recorded at 6-8 week 
check 
% breastfeeding (fully or partially) at 6 to 8 weeks; 
Total Number of children age2.5 in that qtr 
% of 12 month development reviews completed by the time the child 
turned 12 months;  
% of 12 months development reviews completed by the time the child 
turned 15 months;  
% of 2 to 2½ year reviews completed by age 2½ years 
Total number of children 2 to 2½ year in that Qtr 

 
High impact areas 
 
These KPIs relate to local variations which were included at the time of transfer and refer 
to new KPIs in addition to the nationally defined ones. Hence the data is not complete 
but shows the level of detail expected as part of the service.  Where areas are not met, 
action plans and reports are provided. 

 
 
 

Page 54



 

 25

 

APPENDIX 9: FAMILY NURSE PARTNERSHIP PROGRAMME 
 

1. Background - Why is FNP important? 

 
 Number of births to teenage mothers in England was substantial - 32,000 in 2013 
 Teenage mothers often have low economic and psychological resources which 

can be a barrier to them being an effective parent 
 There is strong evidence indicating that children of teenage mothers and mothers 

themselves are at high risk of poor health and development outcomes over the 
course of their life as well as increased risk of infant mortality 

 Levels of safeguarding and domestic violence are high in young parents 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. FNP licence and national leadership  

a) The FNP programme is a licensed programme and therefore has a well-defined 
and detailed service model, which must be adhered to.  

b) DH retains policy responsibility for FNP. The FNP National Unit provides FNP 
providers with support and guidance for implementation of the programme, 
provides sub-licences to providers, delivers the learning programme for family 
nurses and supervisors, provides the FNP Information System, leads quality 
assurance and improvement processes, offers networking between sites and the 
coordination of programme developments and augmentations and supports the 
commissioning of FNP by NHS England.  

3. Roles  

a) Three key organisations are involved in delivery of the FNP programme. The 
Department of Health retains responsibility for the overarching policy for the FNP 
programme. DH holds the national licence for FNP from the University of 
Colorado, Denver, and must ensure that the programme is delivered in England 
in accordance with that licence.  

b) NHS England was responsible for commissioning providers to deliver the 
commitment to increase the number of places on the FNP programme to 16,000 
by 2015, in line with the agreed commissioning priorities.  

c) The FNP National Unit is responsible for ensuring the delivery of the programme 
to the licence standards. The FNP National Unit leads implementation support 
and the family nurse and supervisor learning programme as set out in its contract 

Page 55



 

 26

with DH. It provides a quality improvement programme, in line with the FNP and 
provides intensive support with regular review and follow up.  

d) Public Health in Local Authority took over commissioning in October 2015. 

4. FNP target population  

FNP is a voluntary programme, targeted to first time mothers aged 19 and under (at 
last menstrual period) with the aim to enrol women on the programme as early as 
possible in pregnancy, ideally before 16 weeks and no later than 28 weeks gestation. 
Other specific criteria include geographical location according to predicted population 
needs. 

5. Aims  

FNP shares the over-arching aims of the HCP to reduce inequalities in outcomes 
and to ensure a strong focus on prevention, health promotion and early identification 
of needs. It has additional specific aims, which are to:  
1. improve the outcomes of pregnancy by helping young women improve their ante-

natal health and the health of their unborn baby;  
2. Improve children’s subsequent health and development by helping parents to 

provide more consistent competent care for their children; and  
3. Improve women’s life course by planning subsequent pregnancies, finishing their 

education and finding employment.  

6. Service description 

a) The FNP programme consists of structured home visits from early in pregnancy 
until the child is two, delivered by family nurses. The visits cover the six domains 
of: personal health, environmental health, life course development, maternal role, 
family and friends, and health and human services. FNP is based on the theories 
of human ecology, attachment and self-efficacy.  

b) FNP is delivered in an integrated way with maternity, general practice, 
community health services, health visiting, children’s centres, Job Centres and 
third sector providers within the context of integrated children’s services and the 
HCP.  

c) The service will be flexible and responsive, adapting to the individual needs of 
children and families whilst ensuring fidelity to the licensed FNP programme 
model.  

 
7. Expectation of Providers  

a) Providers will be expected to have systems in place for early recruitment of 
young women (before 16 weeks gestation) to maximise the enrolment of eligible 
clients in early pregnancy, enabling them to get maximum benefit from the 
programme.  

b) Providers will be expected to have clear operational standards in place, in 
relation to how the FNP interfaces with, and relates to, all of the agencies 
supporting the delivery of the HCP. Providers will also be expected to have 
pathways in place for families moving from FNP to universal HCP and children’s 
services. Providers will be expected to provide strong organisational leadership 
and support so the FNP programme can be delivered well in their area.  

c) Family nurses will work in partnership with parents using the FNP guidelines, 
other programme materials and methods to enable mothers and fathers to 
increase their knowledge and understanding, set goals, make behaviour changes 
and develop their reflective capacity. This will enable them to build strong 
attachments with their baby, enhance their self-efficacy, develop effective 
strategies for good infant and toddler care-giving, strengthen and adapt to their 
parenting role.  

Page 56



 

 27

d) Each site is required to recruit an FNP supervisor to lead the clinical 
implementation of the FNP programme with families. The FNP supervisor is 
responsible for the quality of programme delivery, using the FNP information 
system to support their assessment and improvement of implementation quality.  

8. Service model  
 
a) FNP will be delivered by a team of trained family nurses, led by the FNP supervisor 

and accountable to the local FNP Advisory Board. The FNP Advisory Board consists 
of senior decision makers for children and young people’s services from the NHS, 
Local Authority and appropriate partner services. The Advisory Board is, generally 
speaking, chaired by the relevant commissioner from an Area Team.  

b) Programme of FNP visits include: 
 

 1 per week first month  
 Every other week during pregnancy  
 1 per week first 6 weeks after delivery  
 Every other week until 21 months  
 Once a month until age 2 10.18 Visits last approximately one hour and cover the 

following domains:  
o Personal health – women’s health practices and mental health  
o Environmental health – adequacy of home and neighbourhood  
o Life course development – women’s future goals  
o Maternal role – skills and knowledge to promote health and development of 

their child  
o Family and friends – helping to deal with relationship issues and enhance 

social support  
o Health and human services – linking to other services 10.19 The provider will 

implement the programme in accordance with the FNP Sub-licensing 
agreements and the expectations set out in the latest FNP Management 
Manual, provided by the FNP National Unit. This includes providing local 
safeguarding arrangements.  

9. Recruitment Pathway  

Those eligible will be identified by maternity services and notified to the FNP 
supervisor at 12 weeks gestation or earlier as far as possible. Clients must be 
enrolled on the programme no later than 28 weeks gestation with a specific fidelity 
goal to enrol at least 60% by 16 weeks gestation. Other services (e.g. GPs, 
education, children’s centres) are able to identify and refer potential clients to FNP. 
Offer of the programme and recruitment will be carried out by the FNP team. FNP 
teams are expected to enrol clients onto the programme using a staged approach.  

10. Care Pathway  

The following is an outline of the FNP care pathway:  

a) First time young mothers aged 19 and under will be offered FNP as part of the 
preventive pathway within the HCP. Young mothers enrolling on the programme 
will be visited by the same family nurse until the completion of the programme 
when the child is 2 years of age;  

b) The programme will be delivered to young mothers within the context of the 
immediate and extended families involving fathers and grandparents;  

c) Young mothers who accept the programme will receive structured visits from the 
family nurse in line with the FNP programme model;  

d) The family nurse will work closely with the midwives who will be responsible for 
the young mother’s midwifery care;  

e) Babies born into the programme will receive the HCP as part of the FNP. The 
family nurse will deliver the HCP and is responsible for ensuring access to the 

Page 57



 

 28

physical examination, newborn hearing screening, blood spot screening and 
immunisations;  

f) Before children reach the age of two years, the family nurse will notify the health 
visitor lead for the HCP team, and agree future service delivery. Families will be 
supported to access wider children’s services to meet their individual needs;  

g) The FNP Supervisor will have systems in place for effective communication, 
audit and information sharing for all aspects of the FNP with midwives, social 
care, health visitors, GPs and children’s centres;  

h) Young mothers who choose not to enrol on FNP will be notified back to the 
midwife who will continue to coordinate care for the family until 14-28 days after 
the birth of the baby ensuring the young mother has access to the universal and 
progressive aspects of the HCP;  

i) Every effort will be made by the family nurse to ensure continued engagement of 
the client in FNP. Clients who leave the programme before their child is 2 years 
old will be notified to the health visitor who is responsible for universal services, 
ensuring access to preventive services and to others providing the HCP (e.g. 
GPs). FNP teams will follow the FNP National Unit’s guidance and local guidance 
regarding clients who cannot be traced and will act to safeguard the child or other 
family members where risks are identified requiring further actions;  

j) Family nurses and supervisors will use the FNP Information System to record 
data about their clients and use this to inform how they deliver the programme; 
and,  

k) Where the FNP client has a second child during the time of her involvement with 
FNP, the family nurse will be responsible for delivery of the HCP to the family for 
the second child, in addition to the first, until the first child reaches the age of 2 
years.  

11. Discharge Criteria and Planning  

a) A client graduates from the programme when the child reaches 2 years of age. 
Responsibility for HCP delivery is transferred back into universal HV services.  

b) Before children reach the age of two years the family nurse will notify the health 
visitor lead for the HCP team and discuss the handover process with the client. 
Families will be supported to access children’s centres and the HCP will match 
services and interventions to their individual needs.  

c) Family nurses will continue to make all efforts to locate clients who cannot be 
found and persist in their efforts to re-engage clients who indicate that they no 
longer wish to receive the programme, either directly or by repeated missed visits.  

d) If a client with significant risk or safeguarding factors is not receiving programme 
visits for any reason, local safeguarding processes should be implemented.  

e) Young mothers who choose not to accept FNP will be notified to the midwife who 
will continue to coordinate care for the family until 14-28 days after the birth of 
the baby ensuring the young mother has access to the universal and progressive 
aspects of the HCP.  

 

 

 

 

Page 58



 

 29

 

APPENDIX 10: FINDINGS FROM THE RCT & BRADFORD FNP  
  
Family Nurse Partnership 
 
FNP in Bradford & Airedale began in November 2010 as a Wave 3b site with 1 (0.8 
WTE) Supervisor, 4 (3.75 WTE) Family Nurses and 1 (0.5 WTE) This gave an 
approximate coverage of 10% of eligible clients. Recruitment of clients was from 
identified teenage pregnancy hotspot areas and compliant with licence requirements. 
 
As a result of the successful implementation and evaluation and the measured 
expansion nationally, expansion of FNP took place from 2011 over 3 years and is now 
funded for 1.32 WTE Supervisors, 9.42 WTE Family Nurses and 0.96 WTE Quality 
Support Officer and a maximum capacity for delivery of FNP to 245 clients. 
 
This gives an approximate coverage for 30% of eligible clients. 
 
Clients are currently recruited from the following wards: 
 
Tong, Low Moor, Wyke, Great Horton, Little Horton, Bowling & Barkerend, Allerton, 
Royds and Keighley 
 
Direct referrals of potential clients from Looked After or Leaving Care systems and 
Families First are not restricted to geographical areas. Additionally, potential client with 
other risks such as ongoing mental health issues are considered outside the current 
geographical area. 
 
The findings of the key national research on FNP published in September 2015 have 
been discussed with the National FNP Team alongside local data for FNP. Primary 
health outcomes were not improved but there was evidence of some improvements in 
other secondary outcomes and the results and implications are under consideration 
nationally and locally as part of the FNP ADAPT approach 

 
  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 59



 

 30

 

APPENDIX 11: CURRENT  PERFORMANCE (FNP) 
 
The current FNP programme has demonstrated high fidelity to the licensed FNP 
programme and the recent FNP Advisory Board in March 2016 confirmed this. There is 
evidence that the FNP team overall perform better than similar teams across the country 
in terms of both fidelity and adherence to the programme and also in terms of improving 
outcomes for pregnant women and children in a range of areas monitored via this 
programme.  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 60



 

 31

 
APPENDIX 12: HEALTH VISITING & FNP CONSULTATION 
 
 
 
See pdf attached.  
 
 

Health Visiting 
Service  Review - Consultation Report.pdf

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 

 32

 
 APPENDIX 13: PROPOSED MODEL FOR HEALTH VISITING  
 
Future commissioning needs to support sustainable health visiting services and the ‘4, 5, 
6’ model helps to explain the public health services for 0-5s. The four levels of health 
visiting service, the five elements which are mandated, and the six high impact areas 
focus on evidence based interventions which are up to date and align with early years 
and other appropriate services.  
 
It is also important that we continue with the 4-5-6 model but align this more effectively 
within children services so that it is more integrated.  As part of this it will be important 
we review the current integrated care pathways  

 
Although it is anticipated that the Regulations to mandate the five universal reviews will 
expire on the 31 March 2017, it is important locally that we continue mandating the five 
universal reviews within the Healthy Child Programme. Future commissioning needs to 
continue to support sustainable health visiting services identified in the     ‘4-5-6’ model. 
This includes the six high impact areas which focus on evidence based interventions 
which align more effectively within children services and the CCGs so that services are 
more integrated.  As part of this it will be important we review and enhance the current 
integrated care pathways, and in conjunction with the children centre review. 

 
National and local policy context is being implemented locally and overall we have a 
good 0-5 service with both national and local performance monitoring arrangements. 
Whilst the outcomes of the review and consultation have been mainly positive, we have 
drawn out areas from the consultation, which require improvement and further 
development in order to have a model which is fit for purpose and geographically 
aligned. Given the current financial climate it is even more important we have a model 
which is cost effective and demonstrates value for money. 

 
Recommendations for proposed model of health visiting services 
 
1. Effective leadership, coordination and delivery of the Healthy child programme as 

highlighted in the 4-5-6 model, including the five mandated health checks, 6 high 
impact areas and both universal and targeted services. 
a) Effective delivery of both Universal and targeted services in order to deliver 

mandated health checks and child development reviews in accordance with the 
integrated care pathway  

b) Effective delivery and support of the six high impact areas 
 
2. Delivery of evidence based outcome focused interventions to improve health and 

wellbeing and reduce inequalities by focusing on needs of young children 
including vulnerable groups. 
 

3. Effective teams and partnerships, working across professions and 
organisations; using evidence based interventions and the development and 
implementation of appropriate pathways to support families with early help. 
a) Deliver on an area-based service structured in line with local children’s services, 

using an integrated approach to improving child and family health locally, including 
leading partnerships within early year’s settings, Children centre clusters and other 
partner agencies including social care and the voluntary and community sector. 

b) Ensure local intelligence and mapping of services is incorporated into appropriate 
delivery models to improve outcomes for children, young people and their families 
(with effective signposting).  

c) Provide proactive ‘early help’ and leadership as part of a multi-agency team with 
direct partnership with schools to provide improved access and delivery of the 
Healthy Child Programme and school readiness 

Page 62



 

 33

d) Develop effective professional partnership pathways working with other parts of the 
health system so there are clearer pathways and referrals and a single child health 
record (for example primary care, speech language therapy, audiology, screening 
and child health systems). 

e) Establish positive partnerships with families to support effective lifestyle and 
behaviour change. 

 
4. Improved access to health visiting services through a geographically aligned 

model with clear alignment to children’s centre clusters. This includes 
recognising the important role and links to GPs and Primary care, and 
mapping of Voluntary and community Sector organisations and groups to 
support and signpost to where necessary. 
a) Better access to the health visiting service (not through a hub), and direct access 

for vulnerable families and special needs. 
b) Access to health visiting services in locations closer to where families live 
c) Access to private facilities with flexibility where needed to target vulnerable 

groups, such as minority groups and engagement with fathers.  
d) Every family has access to an appropriate interpreter where needed. 
 

5. Improved communication and resources according to community needs, 
ensuring more “visibility” of health visitors and information and resources in 
appropriate languages. 
a) To ensure a clearer understanding about the role of the health visiting/FNP and what 

families/services can expect from the service using different methods of 
communication according to need (social networks/media/campaigns) 

b) To be more visible in the community setting (drop ins) 
c) Information provided in appropriate community languages  
d) Bilingual support available to vulnerable women who do not speak English 

(Asylum Seeker/Travellers/ Gypsies) 
 

6. Workforce capacity and development to ensure diverse needs of communities 
are represented but also appropriate training to ensure a competent workforce 
and relevant skill mix providing consistency in messages. 
a) To ensure appropriately skilled and experienced workforce working in multi-

disciplinary roles (skill mix and students) with appropriate leadership. 
b) To ensure workforce reflects the diversity of the local population and 

communities it serves, with an understanding of the diverse and cultural needs of 
the District. 

c) To undertake Public Health and relevant training as required. 
 

7. Targeted work with vulnerable Families and children with specific needs, and 
to ensure appropriate structures in place so families of children age 0-5 and 
mothers do not miss out on vital health checks 
a) To identify families with high risk and low protective factors  
b) To utilise specialist skills to identify risk factors in protecting children. Some risk 

factors may be so high that no amount of protective factors will compensate and 
action to prevent the child from harm must be taken;  

c) To link to wider stakeholder and services, for example local A&E services and 
the local Troubled Families Team  

d) To map out services in their geographical areas so women and families can be 
signposted to (e.g. local areas to Voluntary and community health organisations 
and groups - such as bereavement support, Homestart, children centres, 
community groups, obesity groups and other Early years services) 

e) To ensure structures in place so no families with children age 0-5 miss out on 
vital health checks and reviews – for example women who have not given birth in 
Bradford (migrant communities) and Mothers with babies with special needs still 
in hospital. 

 

Page 63



 

 34

8. Service delivery to incorporate ‘Journey to Excellence’ with ‘Early Help’ and 
‘Signs of Safety’ as well as implementation of the Integrated Early Years 
Strategy for children age 0-7 
a) Undertaking comprehensive population, community family and individual needs 

assessments and undertaking wider public health work to reduce inequalities 
b) Consistency of health messages given to service users and their families. 
c) Support to vulnerable families and those with complex and additional needs;  
d) Working with GPs to ensure referrals and raising of concerns, prompting for 6-8 

week check. 
e) Service delivery forming a key part of ‘Journey to Excellence’ with ‘Early Help’, 

‘Signs of Safety’ integrated within the service model.  
 

9. A caseloads model to be developed and delivered according to need and 
priority 
To prioritise caseloads according to need. 

 
10. Nurse prescribing to include advice and support in managing minor illness 

and reducing hospital admissions, as well as providing level 1 contraceptive 
advice. 

11. Ensure robust transition to school for children and close working with the 
school nursing service. 

 
The New Service Offer 
 
 
 
 
.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
= 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Your 
Community 
 

A range of health services including Children’s Centres and the 
service families and communities provide for themselves. Health 
visitors work to develop these and make sure they have mapped out 
intelligence about local communities and services available to 
support families.  

 
Universal 
services  
 

Provide the Healthy Child Programme to ensure a healthy start for 
children and family (e.g. prompt for immunisations, health and 
development reviews), support for parents and access to a range of 
community services/resources in areas which are easily accessible 
and in languages understood by the community 

 

 
Universal 
plus 

Delivers a rapid response from health visiting team when expert help 
is needed, e.g. with postnatal depression, a sleepless baby, weaning 
or answering any concerns about children. 
 

 
Universal 
partnership 
plus  

 

Provides ongoing support from health visiting team bringing together 
a range of local services working together to help family with any 
additional complex needs. These include services from Children’s 
Centres, other community services including voluntary and 
community organisations and, where appropriate, the Family Nurse 
Partnership. 

FNP Bradford will be more integrated with the HV service. There 
will be a better partnership approach to tier 3 and 4 Services. 
The new model of FNP will deliver to more clients with less 
frequency of contact and have better transition into the HV 
service at an early stage – to universal partnership plus services 
which will eventually mainstream into the universal services. 

 

FNP 
Bradford 

NEW 

 

Page 64



 

 35

APPENDIX 14: PROPOSED MODEL FOR FNP 
 
Family Nurse Partnership 
 
One of the key priorities for Public health is to ensure future commissioning supports 
sustainable public health services for 0-5s, and provides the best outcomes for children 
and their families, through universal health visiting services and targeted support such 
as the Family Nurse Partnership (FNP).  
 
Whilst evidence from the consultation and findings from the FNP have provided excellent 
feedback from service users and stakeholders, this has not correlated with national evidence 
from literature review and the recent publication of the RCT.  Given the funding cuts and 
recent research highlighting the impact of FNP, it is recommended that a new model of FNP 
which is fit for purpose is developed locally.  This should include how this can be 
embedded into the local health visiting services with a focus on child development and a 
smoother transition from FNP to health visiting services 

 
One of the advantages locally in Bradford, unlike other neighbouring areas where decision 
has been made to decommission FNP - is that we have the Better Start Bradford. This 
provides a real opportunity to develop and pilot a model which is based on local need and 
supported by the national team with robust monitoring processes with more locally defined 
outcomes and criteria.   
 
The current model of FNP would need to include an exit strategy incorporating any risks 
and a revised model which is based on local outcomes agreed with the national unit.  It 
is proposed that the local model is based on less frequency of contact, which will allow 
for more targeted work with an increase in the numbers of women targeted.  It is 
proposed that the new model reduces the frequency in terms of number of visits and 
length from two years to one year, with a smoother transition to the health visiting 
service which will have a revised model incorporating the learning from the FNP. 
  
Recommendations for a new Family Nurse Partnership model 
 
Recommendations are based, not only on consultation and stakeholder engagement but 
also contextualised in relation to literature review and current research evidence such as 
the FNP RCT and discussions with the FNP Board and Better start.  
 
Whilst evidence from the consultation and findings from the FNP have provided excellent 
feedback from service users and key stakeholders, this has not correlated with national 
evidence from the literature review and in particular the recent publication of the RCT, and 
the following recommendations are therefore proposed 

 

1. Develop of a new model of FNP (FNP ADAPT) which is fit for purpose and developed 
with locally defined outcomes 

2. Embed the learning from the FNP into the proposed health visiting service, focusing 
on child development and a smoother transition from FNP to health visiting services.   

3. Work in partnership with Better Start Bradford to develop and pilot a model which is 
based on local need and supported by the National FNP Team 

4. Ensure robust performance and monitoring processes in place which can compare 
outcomes from Health visiting to FNP 

5. Review and inclusion of long term outcomes and wider determinants, such as 
educational achievement, with attached measures to be monitored as part of FNP. 
 
This provides an opportunity to embed the learning from the FNP into the local health 
visiting service, which is identified as a gap in current service provision. This will 
need to focus on child development and a smoother transition from FNP to health 
visiting services.  One of the advantages locally in Bradford, unlike other 

Page 65



 

 36

neighbouring areas where - is that we have the Better Start Bradford. This provides a 
real opportunity to develop and pilot a model which is based on local need and 
supported by the national team with robust monitoring processes with more locally 
defined outcomes and criteria.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 15: EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Equality Impact Assessment Form 
Page 66



 

 37

 

Department Public Health Version no 1.0 

Assessed by  Date created 8.03.2016 

Approved by  Date approved  

Updated by  Date updated  

Final approval  Date signed off  

 

Section 1: What is being assessed? 
 
1.1 Name of proposal to be assessed: 
 

Health Visiting and FNP service for children age 0-5 

 
1.2 Describe the proposal under assessment and what change it would 

result in if implemented: 
 

Following transition of the 0-5 health visiting service into the local Authority in 
October 2015, it was a timely opportunity to undertake a review of the health 
visiting and FNP service. 
 
The purpose of the review was to identify if the current service model meets 
current and emerging needs, fits within the ‘Journey to Excellence’ and ‘New 
Deal’ programmes and to identify opportunities for service improvement. 
 
The service was reviewed in line with key national and local policy, guidance and 
strategy and was informed by consultation and engagement with key 
stakeholders. Key priority areas for Health visiting included both mandated and 
high impact areas as highlighted: 
 

 
 
The current service is based on a national specification with four tiers of services 
to ensure both a universal and targeted service to ensure safeguarding is at the 
forefront of service delivery. The current services also includes mandated 

Page 67



 

 38

services such as the universal reviews, as well as the high impact areas which 
are already an important part of the local early years strategy and objectives for 
the district. 
 
Key stakeholders and partners reiterated the importance and strengths of a 
universal health visiting service identifying areas for improvement which will be 
outlined in the recommendations.  This will result in a more accessible service 
that is better able to respond to the equality and diverse needs of children, young 
people and their families. 

 

Section 2: What the impact of the proposal is likely to be 
 The Equality Act 2010 requires the Council to have due regard to the need to-  

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 advance equality of opportunity between different groups; and 

 foster good relations between different groups 
 
2.1 Will this proposal advance equality of opportunity for people who 

share a protected characteristic and/or foster good relations between 
people who share a protected characteristic and those that do not? If 
yes, please explain further. 
 
The proposal will advance equality of opportunity and support a reduction in 
health inequalities in children age 0-5 and their families including those with a 
protected characteristic.  The new service model will ensure improved service 
accessibility for priority groups such as pregnant and breastfeeding mothers, 
babies and children as well as ensure effective delivery targeted at most 
vulnerable groups.   

 
2.2 Will this proposal have a positive impact and help to eliminate 

discrimination and harassment against, or the victimisation of 
people who share a protected characteristic? If yes, please explain 
further. 
 
The proposal will not directly eliminate discrimination, harassment or victimisation 
but it will support this as the focus is on pregnant and maternity which is a 
protected group. 

 
2.3 Will this proposal potentially have a negative or disproportionate 

impact on people who share a protected characteristic?  If yes, 
please explain further.  

 
The Equality assessment carried out indicates that this proposal is not likely to 
have a negative disproportionate impact on most if not all protected 
characteristics.  However, one of the main aims of the new service model is to 
reduce health inequalities so will therefore have a positive impact on children and 
young people who experience health inequalities. 
 

 
2.4 Please indicate the level of negative impact on each of the protected 

characteristics? 
(Please indicate high (H), medium (M), low (L), no effect (N) for each)  
 

Page 68



 

 39

The current service is a universal service, hence should not have any negative 
impact on any group, however in some cases such as the FNP, there will be a 
positively high impact on low income groups and because the service is for 
mothers with children age 0-5 will have positive impact on pregnancy and 
maternity. 

 
 

Protected Characteristics: 
Impact 

(H, M, L, N) 

Age L 

Disability L 

Gender reassignment N 

Race L 

Religion/Belief L 

Pregnancy and maternity L 

Sexual Orientation L 

Sex L 

Marriage and civil partnership N 

Additional Consideration:  

Low income/low wage L 

 
 
2.5  How could the disproportionate negative impacts be mitigated or 
eliminated?  
 

Consideration has been given to protected characteristics through engagement 
and consultation with fathers, minority ethnic groups and carers. Evidence 
collated will support review and recommendations.  

Section 3: What evidence you have used? 
 
3.1 What evidence do you hold to back up this assessment?  
 

Consultation and engagement findings, and the Business Case for Health visiting 
and FNP Review. 

 
3.2 Do you need further evidence? 

 
No 

Section 4: Consultation Feedback 
 
4.1 Results from any previous consultations 
 

Yes 
 

Page 69



 

 40

4.2 Feedback from current consultation  
 

Yes 
 
4.3 Your departmental response to this feedback – include any changes 

made to the proposal as a result of the feedback 
 
 The proposed service model has been informed by consultation feedback. 
 
 
 
 

Page 70


	Agenda
	7 PUBLIC HEALTH 0-19 CHILDREN'S SERVICE
	Hlt7JuneDocAapp1
	Hlt7JuneDocAapp2


